

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2018

# FUNCTIONAL AND COGNITIVE STATUS AND MEDICATION COMPLEXITY IN OLDER ADULTS: THE HEALTH AND RETIREMENT STUDY

Duaa Bafail bafailda@vcu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

© The Author

#### Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/5355

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.



© Duaa Bafail , 2018

All Rights Reserved

i



# FUNCTIONAL AND COGNITIVE STATUS AND MEDICATION COMPLEXITY IN OLDER ADULTS: THE HEALTH AND RETIREMENT STUDY

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

DUAA BAFAIL

PharmD in Pharmacy, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, 2009 MS, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia, 2014

Director: PATRICIA W. SLATTUM, PHARM.D., PH.D.

Professor and Director of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy Program Victor A. Yanchik Professor of Pharmacotherapy and Outcomes Science Department of Pharmacotherapy and Outcomes Science

> Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, VA April 2018



## Dedication

To my Husband

Without you this would only be a dream



### Acknowledgments

As I complete my dissertation and reflect on the journey so far, it has been a period of intense learning on both a personal level and also in the area of science. Working on this dissertation has impacted me positively and I would like to show my gratitude to those people who have supported and helped me through this period.

Firstly, I would like to thank God for everything he has done for me. I give thanks to Him and I pray for his continual guidance through life. Without His help and support I would not have been able to come to this point of completion. I thank him for the people He has put around me who have been a massive source of support. Without them I would not have been able to complete this piece of work.

I would also like to thank Dr. Patricia Slattum, my advisor and mentor, for her endless support, guidance and invaluable training which has always spurred me on to chase my goals and objectives in this PhD program. I thank her for taking me under her wing as a student and making my experience in the program both stimulating and rewarding. On personal level, she has always been a source of support and encouragement despite the rigors of the program and her busy schedule. It is very well-known to everyone who knows Dr. Patricia Slattum that she is a great person both personally and professionally.

I would also like to thank the members of the advisory committee for their time and advice throughout the dissertation process. The discussions, advice and constructive feedback have been invaluable and key to the completion of this project. I would like to thank Dr. Kristin Zimmerman, your experience and knowledge in medication regimen complexity has definitely improved my research. I would also like to thank Dr. River Pugsley for being in my committee



iv

and for your encouragement and your helpful comments on my work. I would like to thank Dr. Pramit Nadpara for his input into my research and for taking time out from his busy schedule to be a member of the committee. To Dr. Darcy Mays, I say a big thank you for being ever-present to answer my questions on statistics. You always made questions that seemed difficult at the time look like a piece of cake!

I would like to thank my parents: My father Dr. Abdullah Bafail and my Mother Mrs. Saffia Samarkandi, for their great contribution to my life which is their investment in my education. The trust and confidence they showed me has made me grow up with a great sense of responsibility. Many thanks to my dad for the endless prayers and positive support. To my mum, I thank you for being there every step of the way despite being a thousand miles away. I appreciate the encouragement and advice on being patient and to persevere when things are rough. I love you mum!

To the best support system, one could ask for, my lovely husband Ahmad, I thank you for encouraging me while pursuing this degree and being my pillar of strength to rely on. I deeply appreciate the love and support all along the way. Thanks for bringing perspective and making things look easier than I thought in times of desperation.

I would also like to offer a special thanks to my kids, Elyana, Abdullah and Tala, for their patience and support as well. I appreciate your understanding on nights where you want me to stay with you, but I had to study. The memory of my daughter, Elyana, walking in on me studying and saying she hopes I get an A, pass, and be done typifies how difficult it must have been, but you have all been wonderful and made my hard studies tolerable with your beautiful smiles.



V

I thank my sisters and brother for their support and my mother-in-law for keeping me in prayer and also for the selfless support. Last but not least, I would like to thank the Ministry of Higher Education, Saudi Arabia for the scholarship and their financial support.



# **Table of Contents**

List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
List of Abbreviations
Abstractxiii
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Statement of the Problem
1.3 Research Questions and Hypotheses
1.4 Study Objectives
1.5 Significance of the Study
Chapter 2: Background and Literature Review
2.1 Definition of Medication Regimen Complexity
2.2 Definition and Prevalence of Cognitive Impairment
2.3 Definition and Prevalence of Functional Impairment
2.4 Multiple Medications Use and Medication Regimen Complexity in Older Adults14
2.5 Cognitive Impairment and Adherence in Older Adults
2.6 Functional Impairment and Adherence in Older Adults
2.7 Medication Complexity, Adherence, and Other Clinical Outcomes in Older Adults 19
2.8 Association of Cognitive/Functional Impairment and Medication Complexity in Older Adults 21
Chapter 3: Methods
3.1 Data Source
3.2 Study Design
3.3 Eligibility of Study Participants
3.4 Outcome Variable
3.5 HRS Prescription Drug Study
3.6 Drug information in HRS 2005 and 2007 Prescription Drug Study
3.7 Creating the Complexity Variable and the Total Number of Medications



3.8 Predictor Variables
3.9 Covariates
3.10 Missing Data
3.11 Statistical Analyses
3.12 Human Subject Protection and Data Privacy
3.13 Sample Size of the study
Chapter 4: Results
4.1 Characteristics of the Study Sample
4.2 Characterize Medication Complexity among the Population
4.3 The Association between Medication Complexity and Cognitive Status at Baseline and after Two Years
4.4 Compare Factors that Contribute to Medication Complexity in Participants with and without Cognitive Impairment at Baseline and after Two Years
4.5 The Association between Medication Complexity and Functional (ADL and IADL) Status at Baseline and after Two Years
4.6 Compare Factors that Contribute to Medication Complexity in Participants with and without Functional Impairment (ADL and IADL) at Baseline and after Two Years
4.7 Assess the Change in Medication Regimen Complexity Score and its Association with Change in Cognitive and Functional Status over Two Years
4.8 Summery
Chapter 5: Discussion
5.1 The Relationship between Cognitive Status and Medication Regimen Complexity
5.2 The Relationship between Functional Status and Medication Regimen Complexity
5.3 The Relationship between Changes in Cognitive/Functional Status and Changes in the Medication Regimen Complexity71
5.4 Strengths and Limitations
5.5 Implications and Future Directions76
5.6 Conclusion
References
Appendix A
Appendix B
<b>Vita</b>



# List of Tables

Table 2.1	Medication Regimen Complexity Index Components and Scoring 10			
Table 2. 2	Summary of Literature Assessing the Relationship Between Cognitive/Functional			
	Impairment and Medication Complexity Among Older Adults			
Table 3.1	Summery of the Steps Involved in the Recoding Process of the mMRCI			
Table 4. 1	Summarizes the Demographic Characteristics of the Study Sample			
Table 4. 2	Medication Complexity Sub-Component Scores (2005)			
Table 4. 3	Medication Complexity Sub-Component Scores (2007)			
Table 4. 4	Percent of People Having Each Dosage Form and Dosage Frequency in 2005			
Table 4. 5	Percent of People Having Each Dosage Form and Dosage Frequency in 2007			
Table 4. 6	Adjusted Association between Cognitive Status and Medication Complexity			
Table 4. 7	Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Cognitive			
	Impairment			
Table 4.8	Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Cognitive			
	Decline			
Table 4.9	Adjusted Association between ADL Functional Status and Medication Complexity 57			
Table 4. 10	Association between IADL Functional Status and Medication Complexity			
Table 4. 11	Association between IADL Functional Status and Medication Complexity, Stratified			
	by Depression			
Table 4. 12	Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Functional			
	Impairment in ADLs 61			
Table 4. 13	Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Functional			
	Impairment in IADLs			
Table 4. 14	Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Functional			
	Impairment in IADLs 64			
Table 4. 15	Association Between Change in Predictors and Changes in Medication Complexity 65			



# List of Figures

Figure 2.1	The Flow of Artic	cles Throughout the	Stages of Literature	Review	23
Figure 3.1	Flow Chart Repre	esenting Inclusion a	nd Exclusion for the	Final Sample	46



## List of Abbreviations

ADAMS: Aging, Demographics and Memory Study

ADE: Adverse Drug Events

ADL: Activities of Daily Living

CES-D: Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale

CI: Confidence Interval

CIND: Cognitive Impairment with No Dementia

HRS RAND: An edition of the HRS data files cleaned and aggregated by the RAND Corporation

HRS: Health and Retirement Study

IADL: Instrumental Activities of Daily Living

IQR: Interquartile Range

Log: Logarithm

LTCFs: Long Term Care Facilities

MCI: Mild Cognitive Impairment

mMRCI: Modified Medication Regimen Complexity Index

MRCI: Medication Regimen Complexity Index

NHI: National Health Insurance

OR: Odd Ratio

OTC: Over the Counter

PDS: Prescription Drug Survey

pMRCI: Patient-Level Medication Regimen Complexity Index



xi

### **RR:** Relative Ratio

- SD: Standard Deviation
- SNAC-K: Swedish National Study of Aging and Care in Kungsholmen

TICS: Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status

- US: United States of America
- VIF: Variance Inflation Factor
- WHO: World Health Organization



## Abstract

# FUNCTIONAL AND COGNITIVE STATUS AND MEDICATION COMPLEXITY IN OLDER ADULTS: THE HEALTH AND RETIREMENT STUDY

By Duaa Bafail, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2018

Major Director: Patricia W. Slattum, Pharm.D., Ph.D. Associate Professor and Director of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy Program Department of Pharmacotherapy and Outcomes Science

**Introduction:** Older adults have high prevalence of chronic illnesses that lead to have complex medication regimens. They are also more likely to have cognitive and functional impairments. Both cognitive/functional impairments and medication regimen complexity increase the risk of medication non-adherence. The objective of this study is to evaluate the association between prescription medication regimen complexity and cognitive/functional status at baseline and after two years, and to assess how changes in cognitive/functional status are associated with changes in medication regimen complexity.



**Methods:** This study used nationally representative sample of community-dwelling older adults from the Health and Retirement Study, followed over a two-year period. The exposures examined were cognitive status, and two types of functional status (Activities of Daily Living (ADLs) and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADLs). The association between cognitive/functional status and medication regimen complexity was examined at baseline and after two years. Similar models were used to examine the relationship between cognitive/functional impairment and sub-components of complexity, and to assess how changes in cognitive/functional impairment were associated with changes in medication complexity over two years.

**Results:** Impairment in ADLs were associated with higher medication complexity at baseline (p=0.0029) and after two years (p=0.0243). Impairments in IADLs were associated with higher regimen complexity at baseline only (p=0.0130). Stratifying by depression status, IADL impairment was found to predict higher complexity at both time points, but only in participants without depression. Cognitive impairment was associated with lower medication regimen complexity at baseline (p<0.0001) and after two years (p=0.0392). Changes in cognitive/functional status were not associated with change in medication complexity over two years.

**Conclusion:** ADL impairment was strongly associated with higher medication complexity. IADL impairment showed some association with higher medication complexity, but this relationship may vary according to depression status and requires further investigation. Recognition of these impairments may offer health care providers the opportunity to intervene by re-assessing medication regimens for patients with functional impairments. Cognitive impairment was associated with lower medication complexity. Changes in cognitive or



xiv

functional were not associated with changes in complexity. Further study is needed to investigate this relationship over a longer period of time.



#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Complex systems are prone to error, and where complexity exists the large number of interconnected elements increases the opportunity for errors to occur and that applies to medication regimens.<sup>1,2</sup> With increases in the availability of prescription and non-prescription medication, medication regimen burden for patients has grown.<sup>2</sup> Clinicians provide their care to the patient that has multiple comorbidities at a time when the development and the availability of medications has increased, which further complicates the medication regimen making complex medication regimens inevitable.<sup>3</sup>

With increases in life expectancy and a growing range of medications available to treat chronic conditions, the use of prescription medications is likely to continue to increase as well,<sup>4</sup> particularly for community-dwelling older patients. These individuals constitute the largest group of consumers of prescription medication in the US, with approximately 20% taking ten or more prescription medications.<sup>5,6</sup> Current medical practice is largely based on guidelines, which help healthcare providers prescribe the right treatment for each condition. Although the use of guidelines helps reduce the risk of non-evidence-based prescribing, this increases the chances of putting patients with multiple conditions on a large number of medications chronically. Patients with multiple chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and depression are likely to be on several medications<sup>7,8</sup> which is referred to as polypharmacy.<sup>9</sup> The median number of medications prescribed to people aged 65 years or older doubled from 2 to 4 between 1988 and 2010. The proportion of older adults taking five or more medications has nearly tripled from 12.8% in 1988 to 39.0% in 2010.<sup>10</sup>



The increased use of medications is likely attributable to the concurrent increase in ageassociated chronic conditions.<sup>11</sup> The estimated prevalence of having 2 or more chronic conditions is 64% among adults aged 65 to 74 years and 71% among those aged 75 years or older.<sup>12</sup> The prevalence of functional impairment and cognitive impairment also increases with age.<sup>13</sup> The aging process generally results in changes and reductions in functional ability, such as declines in physical fitness, flexibility, strength, endurance, and agility, resulting in difficulties preforming normal daily activities.<sup>14,15</sup> As a result, the ability to function independently often declines with age.

Age also plays a role in accelerating the development of neuronal dysfunction, neuronal loss, and cognitive decline, which contributes to multiple problems like decreased intellectual function and neurodegenerative diseases.<sup>16</sup> In addition to age, older adults are often more likely to suffer from conditions such as heart disease, stroke, and arthritis that can lead to functional and/or cognitive decline.<sup>17,18,19</sup> This is particularly concerning in light of the fact that functional and cognitive impairment are risk factors for difficulty adhering to a prescription medication regimen. Reductions in mobility may create difficulties in filling prescriptions; decline in functional ability to manipulate small objects may lead to difficulties opening prescription containers. These functional impairments can act as barriers to compliance with a prescription medication regimen.<sup>20,21</sup> Furthermore, reduction in the ability to remember the details of the medication regimen can also contribute to non-adherence.<sup>22</sup> Adherence to a therapeutic plan is vital for patients in order to get maximum benefits in the form of disease control and health maintenance. This is more important in the older adult population in which a large proportion living with chronic diseases resulting in polypharmacy. Poor adherence to medicines has negative effects on the individual. On a personal level, it results in delayed resolution of



www.manaraa.com

illnesses, the worsening of the symptoms of the disease and can lead to an increase in healthcare costs. In United States, nonadherence is estimated to cost billions of dollars annually.<sup>23,24</sup>

Not taking medications at the correct time, missing doses, or not following other medication-related instructions could potentially result in the patient receiving a suboptimal clinical outcome and therefore lead to therapeutic failure.<sup>25</sup> Poor patient compliance with medication regimens has been estimated to cause about 10% of hospital admissions in the United States.<sup>26</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) suggests that greater health benefits could be achieved by improving patient compliance with existing treatment regimens than by developing new medical treatments.<sup>27</sup> Medication regimen complexity has been associated in previous studies with poor adherence to treatment, and was also identified by the WHO as one of the factors affecting adherence.<sup>25,28</sup> Several studies have also shown that simplification of medication regimens can reduce non-adherence.<sup>25,29,30</sup> Large numbers of medications, complicated medication schedules, or special instructions/requirements (such as cutting or breaking tablets or food interactions) can all contribute to medication regimen complexity and make it more difficult for patients to comply with the treatment plan.<sup>31,32</sup> Complexity is one of the primary causes of patients' non-adherence, with complex medication regimens reducing the likelihood of adherence to treatment.<sup>31</sup> Therefore simplifications of medication regimens and greater attention to managing complexity are potential remediation strategies for poor adherence, and will be critical in helping patients to use their medications correctly.<sup>33</sup>

#### **1.2 Statement of the Problem**

Although medication regimen complexity and cognitive/functional impairments have both been associated with poor medication adherence, there is limited data on the relationship between cognitive/functional impairments and medication regimen complexity. One study by Herson et al. (2015) showed that independence in activities of daily living was inversely



associated with high regimen complexity.<sup>34</sup> Study by Wimmer et al. (2015) showed no significant association between high medication regimen complexity and ADLs. In this study and a study by Lee et al. (2012), the association between medication complexity and cognitive impairment was evaluated, and the results showed medication regimen complexity was lower in participants with cognitive impairment.<sup>35,36</sup>

Further study of this relationship is needed, particularly in the United States population, as most of the existing studies were conducted in a non-United States population, which may have limited the generalizability. Furthermore, all existing studies were cross-sectional; there is a need for longitudinal studies, which may contribute new information to the understanding of this relationship. The proposed study will be the first to use a nationally representative sample of the United States older adult population to assess the relationship between medication regimen complexity and cognitive/functional impairments using a longitudinal design.

#### **1.3 Research Questions and Hypotheses**

**Research Question:** Is there an association between the functional/cognitive status and medication regimen complexity among older adults living in community, both cross-sectionally and over time?

Hypotheses: The hypotheses of this study are as follows:

H1A: There is an association between cognitive status and medication regimen complexity among older adults.

H0A: There is no association between cognitive status and medication regimen complexity among older adults.

H1B: There is an association between functional status and medication regimen complexity among older adults.



H0B: There is no association between functional status and medication regimen complexity among older adults.

## **1.4 Study Objectives**

The objectives of this study are as follows:

- I. To characterize medication regimen complexity among community dwelling older adults in the United States
- II. To assess the association between medication regimen complexity and cognitive status
  - 1. Evaluate the association between medication regimen complexity and cognitive status at baseline
  - 2. Evaluate the association between medication regimen complexity and cognitive status after two years
  - Compare factors that contribute to medication regimen complexity in participants with and without cognitive impairment.
  - 4. Assess the change in medication regimen complexity score and its association with change in cognitive status over two years
- III. Assess the association between medication regimen complexity and functional status
  - 1. Evaluate the association between medication regimen complexity and functional status at baseline
  - 2. Evaluate the association between medication regimen complexity and functional status after two years
  - Compare factors that contribute to medication regimen complexity in participants with and without functional impairment.
  - 4. Assess the change in medication regimen complexity score and its association with change in functional status over two years.



#### 1.5 Significance of the Study

This study contributes to understanding the relationship between cognitive/functional impairment and medication regimen complexity in a nationally representative population of older adults. Older adults, who make up a significant percent of the US population, are more susceptible to the negative outcomes of medication use due to the higher chronic disease burden found in this population. This is the first study that will evaluate the association between cognitive/functional impairment and medication regimen complexity in nationally representative population of older adults living in the community in 2004 and 2006 and the change of medication regimen complexity over two years period. More importantly, the associated cognitive and functional decline in this age group also increases the risk of harm from complex medication regimens. This makes it particularly important to examine these populations. This study could assist healthcare providers in identifying older adult's patients who may require cognitive and functional assessments and assessment of medication complexity prior to therapy initiation. These assessments ensure that medication regimes are tailored to individual patients.

In addition, this study will attempt to highlight the importance of cognitive and functional assessments in clinical settings in order to identify individuals who are at risk of poor adherence. This can help to prioritize older adult's patients who need medication reviews and revision of their treatment plan to maintain adherence, which will help them to achieve maximal health benefits. Furthermore, the results will help efforts to maximize medication adherence by increasing healthcare providers' awareness of the need to minimize the complexity of medication regimens.



## **Chapter 2: Background and Literature Review**

The purpose of this study was to examine the association of cognitive and functional status with medication regimen complexity in older adults living in the community. This section will provide background information on the definition of medication regimen complexity, the definition and prevalence of cognitive impairment in older adults, the definition and prevalence of functional impairment in older adults, multiple medication use and medication regimen complexity in older adults, cognitive impairment and adherence in older adults, functional impairment and adherence in older adults, medication regimen complexity, adherence, and other clinical outcomes in older adults and a literature review of the evidence relevant to this research study, namely, literature regarding the association of cognitive or functional impairment and medication regimen complexity in older adults.

#### 2.1 Definition of Medication Regimen Complexity

Medication regimen complexity has been a subject of study for decades,<sup>37</sup> however the exact parameters of what constitutes complexity and how to measure these parameters has led to differing definitions of this construct throughout the literature. With increasing use of multiple medications, the impact of complexity is just beginning to be appreciated by researchers. The idea of polypharmacy, which is based on the number of medications an individual is taking, is not enough on its own to explain the large discrepancies seen with adverse drug events or adverse outcomes. It is also not sufficient for the evaluation of the impact of regimens on outcomes in intervention studies.<sup>38</sup> Additionally; there is a sense amongst clinical providers that the concept of polypharmacy may not fully explain observed results for adverse drug events and



www.manaraa.com

subsequent adverse outcomes. Medication regimen complexity, unlike polypharmacy, provides detailed and nuanced data for researchers and practitioners.<sup>38</sup> Early studies defined medication regimen complexity as dose multiplied by the frequency of administration.<sup>37</sup> Other studies considered medication complexity solely as the number of medications or the number of tablets taken per day. Other researchers went further to account for complexity by combining the number of doses per day, in addition to the number of medications taken, to make up the components of medication complexity.<sup>39–41</sup> Another study evaluated the complexity of medications by multiplying the number of medicines administered by frequency of administration.<sup>42</sup>

Previously, the term 'regimen complexity' has been used interchangeably with 'medication count' in a manner similar to the concept of polypharmacy. This did not take into account other facets of complexity such as different dosage forms and dosing frequencies.<sup>3,43</sup> However, a patient's compliance is influenced not just by the number of medications taken but also by other factors, which make up regimen complexity. These include the number of doses to be taken, the route of administration, the preparation steps prior to administration and variable administration schedules.<sup>37</sup> To examine these factors, the Medication Complexity Index was developed by a graduate student (Kelly, 1988) to evaluate medication regimen complexity.<sup>44</sup> However, limitations in the original design made it quite difficult for users to record information. Due to these difficulties, George et al. (2004) redesigned the Medication Complexity Index and developed a 65-item medication regimen complexity. This redesigned instrument, accounts for the dosage form (e.g. tablet, inhalation), dosing frequency (e.g. once a day, three time a day), and additional directions (such as crush the tablet, or take with food). Other information taken into



account in this tool includes multiple unit dosing (2 tablets, 2 puffs) and specific timing (e.g. at 3pm).<sup>38</sup> Weights were assigned to dosage forms, frequency of doses, and additional directions.

Although number of medications is one contributing factor to the MRCI score, the definition of MRCI is different than the definition of polypharmacy<sup>38</sup> because it also includes other aspects of the medication regimen.<sup>39</sup> The MRCI is a widely used instrument in studies and has been validated in a study by George et al. on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. To measure that prescription medication associated with that disease; the tool was validated by an expert panel who subjectively ranked six regimens to ascertain the criterion validity. This indicated strong agreement (Kendall's W = .8, p = 0.001). The inter-rater and test-retest reliabilities for the total score and scores from the individual sections of the MRCI as  $\geq 0.9^{-38}$ . Further validation was done by Libby et al. included not only prescription medications associated with the disease but also over the counter (OTC) medications and other prescription medications which are often referred to as patient-level MRCI (pMRCI).<sup>32,45</sup> The patient-level MRCI has been used to measure medication complexity in several patient populations including depressed geriatric patients, organ transplant patients, patients with heart failure, HIV patients, hypertensive patients, patients with diabetes, and patients on dialysis.<sup>46–51</sup> Table 2.1 below shows examples of some MRCI components and their weighted scores. The full MRCI is included in Appendix A.



Component category	Elements	Elements score
Dosage form	Once daily	1
	Three times daily	3
	Hour intervals (e.g. Q12 h)	2.5
Dosing frequency	Oral (e.g. tablet)	1
	Topical (e.g. creams, ointments)	2
	Eye drops	3
Additional direction	Break or crush table	1
	Take at specific time (e.g. in the morning)	1
	Relation to food (e.g. take with food)	1

Table 2. 1 Medication regimen complexity index components and scoring

Note: This table contains a subset of MRCI elements for demonstration purposes, the full MRCI can be found in Appendix A

#### 2.2 Definition and Prevalence of Cognitive Impairment

The prevalence of cognitive impairment increases with age.<sup>52</sup> Its effects impact families, carers, and health and social care providers as well as the patient.<sup>53</sup> Cognitive impairment is defined as a state where a person has trouble learning new information, remembering things, and concentrating or making decisions which can affect them to function adequately and independently in everyday life.<sup>54</sup> Cognitive impairment can range from mild to severe.<sup>54</sup>

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a transitional stage which falls between normal ageing and dementia, and is defined as "an overall mild decline across cognitive abilities that is greater than would be expected for an individual's age or education, but is insufficient to interfere with social and occupational functioning, as is required for a dementia syndrome."<sup>55</sup> Patients with mild, cognitive impairment often complain of memory loss but show no evidence of dementia. Individuals may start to notice some minor changes in their cognitive function, including a decline in cognitive abilities such as thinking skills and memory.<sup>52</sup> These progressive changes are usually noticeable by the patients experiencing them or by other people around them



like a family member, however these changes do not significantly affect their functioning and the patients are still able to carry out their activities of everyday living.<sup>54</sup>

In severe cognitive impairment, the patient loses the ability to understand the meaning of or to remember the importance of things and loses the ability to talk or write. The loss of such basic but important functions results in an inability to live independently.<sup>56,57</sup> The underlying causes of mild cognitive impairment are not well understood however, there are some risk factors that are most strongly linked to mild cognitive impairment that are the same as those for dementia, which include a family history of the disease, progressing age, and chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease in which blood vessels, including those that support brain function, experience reductions in blood flow.<sup>58</sup>

The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment is between 3% and 19% in the older adult population, with an incidence of 8 to 58 cases per 1000 individuals per year.<sup>59</sup> Cognitive impairment is associated with a higher risk for progression to dementia. The progression rates are estimated at 10% to 15% per year amongst older individuals with cognitive impairment compared to 1% to 2.5% among cognitively healthy older adults.<sup>27</sup> A recent study done by Plassman et al. used data from the "Aging, Demographics and Memory Study (ADAMS study)" to estimate the incidence of CIND (Cognitive Impairment with no Dementia) and the progression of CIND to dementia during the follow-up period. The ADAMS study used a longitudinal design, and included individuals from all the regions of the US.<sup>62</sup> The study reported that an estimated 5.4 million older adults (22.2% of the United States older adult population) had cognitive impairment without dementia. At follow-up, 11.7% of those with cognitive impairment had progressed to dementia.<sup>62</sup> A range of diagnostic and screening tests are available to assess cognitive function. Some are more detailed than others, and different tests assess different cognition domains. The Health and Retirement Study used the Telephone Interview for



Cognitive Status (TICS). The TICS is a screening tool not intended for diagnostic purposes, and omits certain areas examined by other tests, such as visuospatial and executive function. Domains assessed by the TICS include orientation, attention, short-term memory, sentence repetition, immediate recall, word opposites, and praxis.<sup>63</sup>

#### 2.3 Definition and Prevalence of Functional Impairment

Functional status is "an individual's ability to perform normal daily activities required to meet basic needs, and maintain health and well-being without support."<sup>64,65</sup> Functional ability is central to overall independence and is a key determinant of quality of life.<sup>66</sup> Difficulties that substantially interfere with or limit role functioning in one or more major life activities is referred to as functional impairment.<sup>66</sup> Individuals with functional impairment often need the assistance of another person to perform one or more daily activities.<sup>66</sup> Functional impairment is assessed by many tools which could be self-reported or caregiver reported and characterized by being unable to carry out activities of daily living, which can be assessed using the activities of daily living tool (ADLs) that assesses tasks such as getting out of bed, dressing oneself and performing personal hygiene. Instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) tool assesses tasks such as eating, walking, shopping, housekeeping and preparing meals.<sup>66,64</sup>

ADLs are the primary and fundamental elements of self-care. The inability to independently perform even one of these activities may signal the need for supportive services. IADLs are typically higher-level activities people must perform in order to remain independent in the community and are often a basis for assessment of needs for services to assist in maintaining independence.<sup>66,67</sup> The decline of functional status in older adults can lead to an inability to live independently at home and predisposes them to social isolation. This decline can be accelerated by personal risk factors which vary from patient to patient and can lead to a rapid



decline in functional status, or can be slowed by the introduction of external support and the application of appropriate interventions.<sup>68,69</sup>

Health promotion and halting functional decline in older adults is a longstanding public health policy issue in the United States.<sup>70</sup> However, there is no general consensus regarding changes in the trajectory of late-life functional status and disability in the older adult population over time. Some argue that late-life functional status and disability for older Americans has never been better, while others argue that the situation has not been improving <sup>71,72</sup> With the general population getting older, there has been a proportional rise in the decline of functional ability.<sup>17</sup> There has also been a concurrent rise in the prevalence chronic illnesses, which increase the risk of a decline in functional status.

The presence of multiple illnesses often reduces the ability to compensate as one would with a diagnosis of a single illness. As a result of this, comorbidities in older adult patients may lead to greater disability than generally anticipated.<sup>17</sup> Chronic disease includes conditions such as diabetes, cardiac disease, neurological conditions, cancer, obesity, and dementia. Some of these conditions are rare but very highly disabling like stroke, while other conditions such as arthritis are more common but may be less disabling.<sup>73</sup> The disabling effect can vary depending on the task the patient is trying to perform. For example, heart disease is more likely to produce difficulty with tasks involving physical activity such as housework, while neurological conditions such as Parkinson's disease may interfere with tasks requiring fine motor control.<sup>74</sup> Both the impairment and the underlying health condition should be addressed in older adults so that interventions can be developed to reduce the level of disability.

The coexistence of two or more health conditions (comorbidity) can result in more disability. As the number of impairments increases from one to four, the percentage of persons reporting dependence on others for assistance with activities increases exponentially (7%, 14%,



28%, and 60% respectively).<sup>75</sup> A recent study assessing functional status among individuals 65 and older participating in Medicare managed care plans collected data longitudinally from 1993-2007. The results of this study showed declines on all measures of function status (ADLs and IADLs). After an average of 8 years of follow-up, 36.6% of participants showed at least two new ADL limitations, 32.3% developed at least two new IADLs limitations.<sup>76</sup> Among older adults admitted to medical hospital units, the prevalence of pre-admission ADL disability was 20.7% among those 60-69 years, and 41.2% for those aged 70 or older. The prevalence of pre-admission IADL disability was 29.6% among those 60-69 years and 62.9% among those aged 70 years and older.<sup>77</sup>

#### 2.4 Multiple Medications Use and Medication Regimen Complexity in Older Adults

It has been well-documented that older adults in the United States are likely to be taking multiple medications concurrently.<sup>78,79</sup> With medical advancements and public health improvements resulting in increased life expectancy, there are increasing numbers of older adults with multiple chronic conditions who require several medications to manage their conditions.<sup>80,81</sup> Older adults with multiple comorbidities are also more likely to experience cognitive and functional impairments.<sup>82</sup> 13% of older adults who have one or more chronic conditions also experience functional impairment and over 26% of older adults who have five or more chronic disease have functional impairment.<sup>82</sup> Chronic conditions are also associated with cognitive impairment, with approximately 24% of all cases of cognitive impairment without dementia are attributable to chronic medical illness.<sup>62</sup> Because cognitive and functional impairments are associated with chronic disease, it is not surprising that these individuals are more likely to use multiple medications, and more likely to be at risk for medication-related problems.<sup>81,83</sup>

The use of multiple medications can easily result from following clinical practice guidelines for a small number of chronic conditions such as hypertension, osteoarthritis, chronic



obstructive pulmonary disease and diabetes.<sup>84,7</sup> Multiple medications obtained from multiple prescribers and pharmacies, and the use of over-the-counter medications and alternative therapies such as herbal medicines contribute to medication-related problems.<sup>85</sup> Along with the widespread use of multiple drugs, older adults are frequently prescribed medication therapy with varying doses, different frequencies and varying routes of administration,<sup>84</sup> as well as various dosage forms such as tablets, inhalers or injections.<sup>86,87</sup> A sample of older adults aged 65 years and older with a diagnosis of depression was randomly selected in ambulatory clinics at the University of Colorado and University of San Diego. The results of this study showed that the complexity score for individual were on average 17.62 (San Diego) and 19.36 (Colorado). Dosing frequency contributed to 57-58% of the MRCI score, with patients having an average of 7-8 unique dosing frequencies in their regimens. For additional directions attached to a patient medication (e.g. crush pill, take with food, taper dose), at both sites, there was an average of 3 additional directions per regimen to clarify dosing.<sup>46</sup> The increased use of medications is likely attributable to the concurrent increase in age-associated chronic conditions. A study by Libbyet al. (2013) showed that using patient-level MRCI scores which included prescription drugs and over the counter medications across four chronic diseases, found that MRCI was higher in the geriatric depression cohort when compared to other cohorts for other diseases. The next highest complexity was the diabetes cohort followed by the HIV cohort and the hypertension cohort. Across all cohorts, most older adults were using dosage forms other than tablet/capsule. Large numbers of participants also had at least three additional directions and at least three different dosing frequencies.<sup>32</sup> As a result, the complexity of medication regimens increases making it more difficult for patients to comply with their planned treatments.<sup>38</sup> Medication regimen complexity increases the difficulty of self-care in the home for older adults.



Although many factors in medication regimen complexity may contribute to how complicated a medication regimen is, each element of complexity may differ in the extent to which it contributes to total complexity and complicates the medication regimen. A study by Advinha et al. (2014) used the MRCI to assess medication regimen complexity in institutionalized older adults, and found that the factor with the greatest contribution to complexity was number of medications.<sup>88</sup> Another study conducted by Wimmer et al. (2015) also showed that the number of medications was highly correlated with MRCI.<sup>36</sup> In the Advinha study, when they compared regimens with the same number of medications, dosing frequency was most closely associated complexity (r=0.922), followed by dosage form (r=0.768) and then additional directions (r=0.742).<sup>88</sup> A study by Elliott et al. (2011) also found that the most common regimen simplification implemented by hospitals was reduction in dosage frequency, which also led to reduction in the MRCI.<sup>89</sup> Finally, a study by Libby et al. showed that among all contributing factors to patient-level MRCI scores, dosing frequency contributed the most complexity points to the MRCI score (55%–64%), followed by dosage form.<sup>32</sup> Regardless of which component contributes the most to complexity, complexity itself is associated with detrimental outcomes for patients.<sup>89</sup> Complex medication regimens can lead to clinical consequences from both medication over- and under-use, and as the complexity increases, the risk of administration error also increases. Patients with complex medication regimens are less likely to fully comply with therapy compared to patients with simpler treatment regiomens.<sup>33</sup>

#### 2.5 Cognitive Impairment and Adherence in Older Adults

Poor medication adherence is very common and is a major risk factor for health problems. This issue disproportionately affects older adults, as they are the highest users of prescription medications.<sup>90,91</sup> Adherence can be defined as taking the correct amount of a medication at the right time while following the instructions given with the medication, such as



taking it with or without food.<sup>92</sup> Older adults are at a higher risk of suffering the negative effects of non-adherence with therapy, particularly due to the high prevalence of chronic comorbidities in this group.<sup>83</sup> Management of chronic conditions often requires complex medication regimens, which is a known risk factor for poor adherence in older adults.<sup>29,93</sup>

Self-management and the ability to perform self-care helps maintain patient independence and empowers the patient to achieve effective disease management. Age-related reductions in the function and mobility put older patients at a higher risk of non-adherence than younger patients. Declines in cognitive ability further compound the problem and can worsen adherence.<sup>21</sup> Cognitive processes are required in order to manage a medication regimen on a daily basis. As a result, older adults with cognitive impairment are less likely to succeed in following complex medication regimens as intended by the prescriber.<sup>94</sup> Cognitive impairment is among the most important risk factors for medication non-adherence in older adults. Nonadherence is estimated to be almost three times higher in patients with cognitive impairment.<sup>95</sup> Cognitive impairment has also been shown to double the risk of non-adherence among older adults patients using antihypertensive medications.<sup>96</sup> Patients with cognitive impairment often have trouble understanding and following treatment recommendations. Such individuals may forget doses or take a dose multiple times leading to inadvertent overuse. This is often related to impairment of higher-level cognitive functions such as executive function, which is essential for planning and monitoring medication use.<sup>92,94</sup> Even individuals who retain the ability to perform basic tasks related to adherence, such as reading and being able to tell time, may be unable to comply with a complex regimen if elements of executive function such as planning and retaining information are impaired.97

Adherence to a medication regimen requires understanding the dosing directions and schedule, which requires planning to be able to take the drug at a specific time or under specific



circumstances such as after a meal. The ability to recall instructions for responding to missed doses and follow through with related plans is also required.<sup>98</sup> Deficits in executive function lead to impairments in the ability to create plans and to organize and carry out tasks. These are key skills involved in managing complex medication regimens, and as a result executive function deficits impair adherence to therapy.<sup>98</sup> This can result in poor disease control, medication errors, increased risk of hospital admission, and loss of independence in the area of medicine management.<sup>99,100</sup> Thus assessment of executive function and cognitive impairment will be critical to identifying older adults patients at risk for therapeutic failure due to poor adherence.<sup>92</sup>

#### 2.6 Functional Impairment and Adherence in Older Adults

Age related and disease related changes are common among older adults and they often experience decreases in functional ability and greater difficulty in performing everyday tasks<sup>101</sup> It is associated with a lower quality of life, a higher risk of health decline and contributes to health care costs.<sup>102</sup> Functional decline can occur as a result of several factors including cognitive impairment, as it has long been part of the diagnostic criteria for cognitive impairment. A study by Farias et al. (2006) examined different types of cognitive impairment and their relationship with functional ability. This study found that compared to controls without cognitive impairment, individuals with mild cognitive impairment experienced more functional limitations, and individuals with dementia experienced an even higher level of functional impairment.<sup>103</sup> Individuals with such impairments often experience difficulty in adhering to medications due to these impairments.<sup>104</sup>

Functional impairment can also result from other causes such as chronic disease that can result in reduced mobility and poor manual dexterity, leading to reduction in functional ability. When these abilities are necessary for taking medication, this can result in reduced adherence.<sup>105</sup> Medication adherence was examined among Medicare patients with heart failure. Individuals



experiencing functional impairments were found to have lower levels of adherence over a oneyear period.<sup>106</sup> Another study compared antihypertensive medication adherence in patients with and without functional impairment using medical claims data of the National Health Insurance (NHI). This study also found that adherence was lower in individuals with functional disabilities.<sup>107</sup> A recent study examined the impact of impaired mobility on medication adherence in older adults. According to this study, patients with severe or moderate mobility impairment had lower adherence rates to medication (62% and 66% respectively) than individuals with no mobility impairment (73%).<sup>108</sup> Reduction in functional ability often makes it difficult for patients to manage their medications and leads to considerable difficulties with tasks such as opening child-proof containers. Several medication types such as nebulizers, inhalers and eye drops require physical manipulation in order to administer them correctly. Conditions which impair joint function or manual dexterity may make the use of these medications difficult.<sup>109</sup> Due to these limitations, individuals with functional impairment are often at greater risk of medication non-adherence.<sup>110,111</sup>

#### 2.7 Medication Complexity, Adherence, and Other Clinical Outcomes in Older Adults

Previous research has shown a correlation between negative clinical outcomes in older adults and complex medication regimens. Medication regimen complexity is reported to be associated with self-administration errors.<sup>40</sup> Family caregiver medication administration problems were also found to increase with medication regimen complexity, leading to the suggestion that complex medication regimens of individual patients could be used to identify caregivers at risk of experiencing difficulties administering medication.<sup>112</sup> Medication regimen complexity is also associated with higher rates of hospitalization, <sup>113,114</sup> and increases in MRCI score increased the probability of adverse drug events (ADE).<sup>113</sup> Higher MRCI scores were associated with an increase in all-cause mortality.<sup>115</sup> Complex medication regimens may be



particularly detrimental to patients who have experienced hospitalization. More complex medication regimens have been shown to be inversely associated with the probability of discharge directly to home from hospital.<sup>116</sup> In addition, complex medication regimens also have an impact on patient knowledge of new medications added to their regimens. Newly prescribed medications are common, with an estimated 40% of patients discharged from the emergency department receiving at least one new medication. In patients with already complex regimens, the addition of another medication to an already complicated list can make it more difficult to be knowledgeable about their medications.<sup>117</sup>

Poor adherence to therapy has been shown to have a negative effect on patients and to result in higher medical costs.<sup>23</sup> The relationship between medication regimen complexity and adherence has been examined in previous studies, demonstrating that high MRCI negatively impacts adherence in older adults.<sup>118,119</sup> The aim of treatment with medication is to optimize the benefit from medication while minimizing side effects. Unfortunately, this balancing act often requires detailed directions, which make treatment plans more complicated. Older adults generally have more difficulty adhering to complex treatment plans.<sup>93</sup> Both overall complexity and specific components of complexity can interfere with adherence.<sup>25</sup> Number of medications is negatively associated with adherence that is, the presence of more medications was associated with worse adherence.<sup>120</sup> Also having simple or complex dosing schedules would affect adherence as adherence to therapy is lower with more complex dosing schedules, and this has a negative impact for patients.<sup>121</sup> A retrospective cohort study investigated adherence in patients with type 2 diabetes taking oral anti-diabetic medications, and reported that complex treatment plans with more frequent dosing schedules were linked with poor adherence to therapy.<sup>122</sup> Patients on twice-a-day treatment plans had lower adherence over time than those on once daily dosing regimens.<sup>123</sup> Having the patient on lower dosing frequency is better and recommended for


improved adherence.<sup>124</sup> Other elements of complexity such as drug instruction and the dosage form can also impact adherence. Less complicated regimens with fewer doses and little or no special instructions (such as food and storage requirements) were associated with better adherence. <sup>125</sup> Multiple dosage forms reduced the adherence rate to treatment regimens with multiple components such as systemic corticosteroids and inhaled and long-acting bronchodilators in patients with severe asthma.<sup>126</sup> These factors all play a part in influencing patient adherence to treatment, and are therefore are important considerations in promoting good adherence to medication therapy.

# 2.8 Association of Cognitive/Functional Impairment and Medication Complexity in Older Adults

# Introduction

The population of the United States is aging rapidly. By 2050, the population aged 65 and over is projected to be 83.7 million, almost double the number of older adults that there were in 2012.<sup>10</sup> Older adults also are the largest consumers of medication in the US, largely due to an age-associated increase in chronic conditions.<sup>1</sup> The management of these chronic conditions often requires the use of multiple medications for a prolonged period of time.<sup>79</sup> Because of this, multiple medication use is a common aspect of providing health care to older adults, leading to increase in prescribed medication use by older adults<sup>2</sup>. In addition, older adults are often prescribed medications with multiple dosing schedules, multiple dosage forms such as tablets and inhalers, and multiple routes of administration, all of which lead to complex treatment plans.<sup>127</sup> Higher medication regimen complexity increases the risk of poor adherence.<sup>118+119</sup> Older adults are also at risk for decline in their cognitive and functional abilities,<sup>13</sup> which can act as barriers to compliance with a prescription medication regimen.<sup>20</sup> It is therefore important to understand the association of cognitive and functional impairment with medication regimen



complexity in older adults. The objectives of this literature review are to identify and synthesize information from studies of cognitive or functional impairment and medication regimen complexity in older adults, to determine the factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older adults, and to identify gaps in the literature that should be examined.

## Methods

The literature search was conducted from January 1998 to January 2018 in PUBMED/CINAHL and Google Scholar. In PUBMED and CINAHL, the search used the terms "poly-pharmacy" OR" medication" OR "medicine" OR "pills burden" AND "treatment complexity" OR "regimen complexity" OR "medication regimen complexity" AND "cognitive status" OR "cognitive impairment" OR "cognitive decline" AND "functional status" OR "functional impairment "OR "functional decline". In Google Scholar, targeted searches using individual terms or combinations of terms were used to find additional articles. Title and abstracts were first screened for inclusion and exclusion criteria, and duplicates were removed. Full-text articles were then screened for eligibility. Inclusion criteria included: (1) a study population consisting of older adults aged 60 years or older; (2) Observational studies or intervention-based studies; (3) cross sectional or longitudinal studies; (4) was conducted in or out the United States; and (5) the assessment of cognitive or functional impairment in the study population. Exclusion criteria included: (1) not using a validated tool to assess complexity of medication regimen; and (2) journal articles not written in English. The search over all databases yielded 225 results. In addition, the citations included in review articles were searched for relevant literature that was not captured in the literature search. After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria at the title, abstract, and full-text screening stages, a total of three original research articles were found. The flow of articles throughout these stages is contained in Figure 2.1 Articles are summarized in Table 2.2





Figure 2.1 The Flow of Articles Throughout the Stages of Literature Review



# Table 2. 2 Summary of Literature Assessing the Relationship Between Cognitive/Functional Impairment and Medication Complexity Among Older Adults

Study	Country	Setting and sample	Assessment	Finding
(Herson et al. 2015) <sup>34</sup>	Australia	People aged 65 years and older living in LTCFs (n= 383)	To investigate factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older resident living in LTCFs	Independence in activities of daily living (ADLs) and dementia were associated with lower regimen complexity.
(Wimmer et al. 2015) <sup>36</sup>	Sweden	People aged 60 years and older in community and in residential aged care, living in Central Stockholm (n=3348)	To investigate factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people	Medication regimen complexity was lower in participants with cognitive impairment. No significant association was found between (ADLs) and regimen complexity.
(Lee et al. 2012) <sup>35</sup>	USA	US. Older population aged 70- to 79-years, (n=3075)	To evaluate whether cognitive impairment is associated with medication complexity for prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) medications	Medication regimen complexity for prescription and OTC medications was lower in participants with cognitive impairment



## **Results: Summary of Studies**

Two studies assessed the association between cognitive impairment and medication regimen complexity in two different settings. One study assessed dementia and its association to medication regimen complexity. The study by Lee et al. (2012) found that cognitive impairment was associated with lower prescription complexity after adjusting for other health status, demographics, and access to health care (RR 0.89; 95% CI 0.80 to 0.99). The number of prescription medications was not significantly different between cognitively impaired and cognitively intact individuals. Therefore, the lowering in the prescription medication complexity was not due to lowering in the prescription usage but rather due to less complex dosage from, and less dosage. Interactions between cognitive impairment and each chronic condition were assessed and did not produce statistically significant results. Cognitive impairment was also associated with lower over the counter (OTC) medication complexity (RR 0.76; 95% CI 0.66 to 0.88). Thus, the decreased OTC complexity likely reflects a decreased number of OTC medications, rather than a difference in other components of complexity.<sup>35</sup>

The study by Wimmer et al. (2015) found that among older adults, predictors of being in the highest MRCI quintile were older age (OR=1.04, 95%CI 1.02;1.05), not living at home (OR=0.35, 95 % CI 0.15;0.86), greater chronic disease (OR=2.17, 95 % CI 1.89;2.49), good cognitive performance (OR=1.06, 95%CI 1.01;1.11), self-reported pain during the last 4 weeks (OR=2.85, 95%CI 2.16;3.76), and receiving help in sorting medications (OR=4.43 95 % CI 2.39;8.56) in comparing to those in lowest quintile. This study did not find a significant association between ADL score and medication regimen complexity score (OR=1.15, 95%CI 0.88; 1.52).<sup>36</sup> The study by Herson et al. (2015) assessed the association between several chronic diseases and medication regimen complexity. This study found that diseases associated with



higher complexity included diabetes, heart failure and pulmonary disease. This study also evaluated functional ability using activities of daily living (ADLs) and dementia, found that ADL and dementia were inversely associated with high regimen complexity (OR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.62– 0.84), (OR: 0.34, 95% CI: 0.17–0.67) resprectivey.<sup>34</sup>

# Discussion

This review was conducted to understand and summarize the current literature on the association between cognitive/functional impairment and medication regimen complexity among older adults. The search yielded three studies, out of which two were focused on the factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older adults and one study assessed the association between cognitive impairment and medication regimen complexity in older adults.

Lee at al. (2012) evaluated whether cognitive impairment was related to medication regimen complexity for both prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) drugs. They found that cognitive impairment was associated with lower prescription complexity and lower OTC complexity. The authors suggested that prescribers may have simplified medication regimens to make the medication management easier for people with cognitive impairment. They also tested the difference in number of prescriptions and OTC medications between those with and without cognitive impairment and found that only OTC medication was significantly lower in those with cognitive impairment, and number of prescription medications was non-significantly lower. They attributed most of the reduction in prescription medication complexity to lower complexity from form and dosage frequency. Although it provided useful insights, Lee et al. (2012) did have several limitations. This study used a population of older adults in two US cities, Memphis, TN and Pittsburgh, PA. It is possible that prescribing patterns, population demographics, and population health may differ between these cities and other parts of the United States, limiting generalizability of the results. Eligibility for this study was also restricted to individuals who



were free of functional limitations, including having the ability to walk without an assistive device. These restrictions may have limited the representativeness of the study population and may make it difficult to generalize the results to other older adults.

The other two studies, Wimmer et al. (2015) and Herson et al. (2015), were conducted to investigate factors associated with regimen complexity in older adults. Both of these studies occurred outside of the United States. Wimmer et al. used data from the Swedish National Study of Aging and Care in Kungsholmen (SNAC-K), and Herson et al. used data from six long-term care facilities in Southern Australia. These countries differ from the United States which may limit the generalizability of their results to the United States. The results in Wimmer et al. showed that participants with the most complex regimens had higher cognitive scores than participants with less complex regimens. The authors noted that this was consistent with the findings of Lee et al. and supported the idea that prescribers might have simplified medication regimens to facilitate easier medication management in people with cognitive impairment. However, Wimmer et al. mentioned that their results should be interpreted cautiously because there was only a small variation in Mini Mental State Examination score across complexity groups. Finally, Herson et al. (2015) focused on a population receiving assistance from nurses and independent living facilities, which means that their results are unlikely to be applicable to community-dwelling older adults who must manage their own medications.

Both Wimmer et al. and Herson et al. assessed the association between medication regimen complexity and functional impairment (as measured using the index developed by Katz et al.<sup>128</sup>). Wimmer et al. showed no association between functional impairment and medication regimen and did not interpret this result further in their discussion. Herson et al. reported that independence in ADLs was associated with lower medication regimen complexity, but also did not interpret this result in their discussion, which suggests that they may interpret ADL



impairment as being a manifestation of dementia. Herson et al. also stated that clinicians discontinued or 'deprescribed' medications to residents with reduced life expectancy. The inconsistent results for the relationship between functional impairment and medication regimen complexity make it difficult to draw a clear conclusion from the existing literature. Additionally, it would be desirable to investigate functional impairment using both ADLs and IADLs to obtain more clear and precise data about functional ability. All of the studies included in this review are cross sectional in design, which does not allow for the examination of changes over time. A longitudinal study would be desirable to examine how cognitive and functional status is associated with changes in medication regimen complexity over time. Additionally, no study has investigated association between prescription medication regimen complexity and cognitive or functional impairment in a nationally-representative dataset. This study will be the first study to examine the relationship between cognitive/functional impairment and prescription regimen complexity in older adults using a longitudinal design and nationally-representative data.

## Conclusion

The review of the literature suggests that older adults with good cognition may have higher medication regimen complexity than those with cognitive impairment. Two studies provide two different results for the association between functional impairment in ADL and medication regimen complexity, with one study reporting no significant association, and the other reporting that independence in ADLs was inversely associated with high regimen complexity. However, most of these studies used data from outside of the United States and had other restrictions that may limit their generalizability. There is a need for further studies investigating the association between cognitive/functional impairment and medication regimen complexity, particularly studies using a longitudinal design and a nationally-representative sample.



#### **Chapter 3: Methods**

# 3.1 Data Source

This study used a nationally representative sample of individuals aged 65 and over, using data from the Health and Retirement Study (HRS). HRS is nationally representative longitudinal survey of more than 37,000 individuals over age 50 living in more than 23,000 households in the United States. The HRS is supported by the National Institute on Aging and the Social Security Administration. The survey began in 1992 and is conducted every two years, following the same cohort of adults age 50 years or older, with new individuals added to the cohort at each wave. The HRS collects data on physical and mental health, family support systems, financial status, insurance coverage, and retirement planning. The HRS data is collected by interviewing the participants either in person or via a telephone interview. For individuals who are unable to complete the interview personally, a proxy completes the interview on their behalf. The main HRS survey is a free and publicly available data set, while some specialized sub-components of the survey are considered sensitive information and require a special approval to access restricted-use data. This study used data from the HRS surveys administered in 2004 and 2006, and also used data from the Prescription Drug Survey (PDS) sub-component of the HRS administered only in 2005 and 2007. An additional follow-up was administered in 2009 (the HRS 2009 Health and Well-Being Study), however the data release for the 2009 study did not include the detailed descriptions of participants' prescriptions, and therefore was not used for this study.



## 3.2 Study Design

This study used a retrospective cohort design, longitudinally following individuals over a two-year period. Baseline data came from the 2004 HRS questionnaire and the 2005 PDS questionnaire. Follow-up data came from the 2006 HRS questionnaire and the 2007 PDS questionnaire. The data from these years was used to assess the association between medication regimen complexity and cognitive/functional status at baseline and to assess the change in medication regimen complexity over a two-year period.

### 3.3 Eligibility of Study Participants

This study included respondents who, at baseline in 2004, were age 65 years or older and living in the community. In order to be eligible, participants must have been present in waves 7 (2004) and 8 (2006) of the HRS and must have completed the 2005 and 2007 PDS questionnaires. Participants with missing data for the outcome variable (medication regimen complexity) or the main predictors (functional or cognitive status) were excluded. In addition, participants who lived in a nursing home at baseline or who were interviewed by proxy at baseline were excluded. Thus, the study sample is representative of community-dwelling older adults aged 65 years or older.

#### **3.4 Outcome Variable**

The outcome under study was medication regimen complexity, which was assessed using a modified version of the medication regimen complexity index (mMRCI). the modified version of the tool was done and was administered by Lee et al.<sup>35</sup> The original MRCI is a validated tool developed by George et al. (2004). The MRCI has strong inter-rater and test-retest reliability.<sup>38</sup> The MRCI is a 65-item tool designed to quantify three components of medication regimen complexity. MRCI component "A" scores dosage form (e.g. tablets, injections, nasal spray) as a contributor to complexity, component "B" scores dosage frequencies (e.g. once a day,



every 12 hours) as a contributor to complexity and component "C" scores additional instructions (e.g. "break the tablet in half" or "take with food") as a measure of complexity. Each dosage form is counted only once within a regimen. For example, if a patient's regimen consists of four tablets that are taken orally, their MRCI component "A" sub-score would be one. The MRCI component "B" measures dosing frequency (e.g. once a day, every 12 hours, alternate days) for each medication. A weight is given to each medication frequency, with higher weights assigned to greater frequencies. For example, if a patient is taking six medications with a frequency of once a day for each medication, the MRCI component B sub score would be six. MRCI component "C" measures additional directions (e.g. crush pill, take with food, taper dose). A weight is given for each instruction per medication. For example, if a patient is on a single medication that needs to be crushed and taken with meals, the component C score for that medication is two. The Medication Regimen Complexity Index is a summary score of all three components.

There is no limitation to the number of medications or special directions that may be counted for a patient, and as a result the MRCI is an open index without an upper limit to the possible range of scores.<sup>38</sup> For the purpose of this study, a modified version of the medication regimen complexity was created to account for the lack of information about additional instructions in the HRS 2007 Prescription Drug Study. For consistency, the same modified scale was applied to the 2005 data. The modified MRCI (mMRCI) score was calculated using the dosage forms and dosage frequencies with the same weightings applied as in the MRCI except in the scoring for frequencies in 2005, were coded as time per day not time per hrs. (for example: in 2005 some phrases like "take one tablet every 12 hrs." the frequency was giving a score of 2 instead of 2.5 to ensure consistency across years. Details regarding dosage forms/dosage frequencies and their assigned weights are shown in the original MRCI tool that is attached in the



appendix A. The modifications to the MRCI resulted in a lower complexity score than the full MRCI score since points for additional instructions were not included. As with the MRCI, higher mMRCI scores indicate greater medication regimen complexity. In the analysis, the mMRCI was used as a continuous variable.

# 3.5 HRS Prescription Drug Study

# **HRS 2005 Prescription Drug Study**

The HRS 2005 Prescription Drug Study is a supplemental study that was conducted in 2005. It is the first wave of a two-wave mail survey designed to track changes in prescription drug utilization. The PDS was intended to capture changes in prescription drug use associated with the implementation of Medicare Part D in 2006, with the 2005 wave recording data prior to the implementation of this program. The sample for the Prescription Drug Study (PDS) was drawn from respondents to the main HRS survey in 2004. This questionnaire also included a section containing detailed medication data, including drug names and information on dosage.

# **HRS 2007 Prescription Drug Survey**

The HRS 2007 Prescription Drug Study (PDS) is the second wave of the PDS, conducted in 2007 after the rollout of Medicare part D. The second wave was designed to capture similar information to the first wave, but post-implementation. The sample for the 2007 wave of the PDS consisted of everyone from the original 2005 sample who responded to either the PDS 2005 or to the HRS interview in 2006.

# 3.6 Drug information in HRS 2005 and 2007 Prescription Drug Study

The survey used in the 2005 Prescription Drug Study asked the participants to provide information about each of the different medications they were taking and asked them to list all of



their prescribed medications. Space was provided in Section E to list up to ten prescription medications. Participants taking more than ten medications were asked to provide detailed information about the ten medications they considered to be the most important, and then to list all remaining medications in Section F. In section E, participants were asked to provide information from the label on the prescription bottle such as the name and dose of the medication (e.g. "Phenytoin (Dilantin) 100 mg") and dosage instructions such as "Take one capsule by mouth as directed in the morning and at bedtime." Section F asked for drug names only and did not include any other details.

The same instructions were used to collect prescription medication data in the 2007 Prescription Drug Study. However, in the 2007 survey, medication details in section E were provided in a different format. The 2007 version of section E contained separate fields for medication name (generic and brand name), medication strength (mgs or other units), format/unit (e.g. capsule, tablet, inhalant, liquid, drop, other), and dosage frequency instructions (number of units and number of times per day/week/month). Because the data fields provided about medication regimen complexity components differed between the two years, data recoding was necessary. The steps involved in the recoding process are shown in Table 3.1 below.



# Table 3. 1 Summery of the Steps Involved in the Recoding Process of the mMRCI



# **3.7** Creating the Complexity Variable and the Total Number of Medications Scoring Procedure for the mMRCI

The mMRCI was computed by adding the summary scores for dosage form and frequency from all of an individual's prescriptions. Prescriptions with partial information (e.g. missing form but known frequency, or missing frequency but known form) had all available information counted towards the score. Prescriptions for which both form and frequency were missing were considered invalid and did not contribute to an individual's mMRCI score. Individuals for whom all listed prescriptions were invalid were excluded. Some individuals in 2007 were found to have reported implausible values for drug frequency, such as reporting that a prescription was taken 90 times per day. These individuals after applying the inclusion and exclusion were 26 participants and were excluded from the study.

# **Creating the Total Number of Medications**

The variable for number of medications was created based on the number of prescriptions participants reported in section E. Because section E allowed for a maximum of 10 prescriptions, this created a maximum value of 10 for this variable. Although participants were able to report additional drugs in section F, section F did not provide details about drug frequency and format, so these drugs could not be counted towards a participants mMRCI score. The PDS questionnaire also included a question about how many drugs a participant took regularly, where participants were able to provide a numeric answer with no upper limit, however, because dosage form and frequency information for any drugs not reported in section E would not be available, this variable was not suited for use in the present study. Total number of drugs was created by taking the number of prescription medications reported by each individual in section E and subtracting the number of medications for which both the frequency and the format were missing, so that drugs that provided no information towards the mMRCI score would be

excluded.



Individuals who had no prescriptions reported in section E, but who had answered "yes" to earlier questions about medication use in section A were given a missing sample weight by the PDS. All individuals with a missing PDS weight were excluded. Individuals who did not complete section E but who had earlier reported that they were not using medications had positive sample weights and were not excluded and were assigned a complexity of 0. After scoring, the 2005 and 2007 data prescription drug surveys were merged. The two merged years of the PDS were then merged with the HRS RAND data.

#### **3.8 Predictor Variables**

The main predictors under study were cognitive status and functional status.

# **Cognitive Status**

Cognitive status as measured using the total cognition score from the HRS data. This score was calculated as a sum of several tests comprising the Telephone Interview for Cognitive Status (TICS) battery.<sup>129</sup> The highest possible score was 35 points, with lower scores indicating poorer cognitive function. Tests in the battery included total recall, a test of working memory, and the mental status test. Total recall consisted of immediate free-recall (ability to remember a list of 10 nouns the respondent has just heard) and delayed word recall (ability to remember the same words after 5 minutes). The test of working memory was the serial 7s test, which asked the participant to subtract 7 from 100, and to continue subtracting 7 from each subsequent number for a total of five trials. The test of mental status included backward counting from 20 to 10, date naming where respondents were asked to report "today's date", object naming where respondent that grows in the desert?" and president/vice president naming where respondents were asked to name the current president and vice president of the United States.



Cognitive score was used as a continuous variable when modeling relationships with overall complexity (at baseline, at follow-up, and longitudinally). For models examining subcomponents of complexity, cognitive impairment was dichotomized using cutoffs identified in previous research using the HRS, with scores of 11 to 35 classified as "normal cognitive function" and scores of 10 or lower classified as "cognitive impairment". <sup>130,131</sup>

## **Functional Status**

Functional status was measured using Activities of Daily Living (ADLs)<sup>128</sup>, which are the basic activities performed at home, and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADLs)<sup>132</sup>, which are the activities required for living independently in the community. The ADLs scale included questions assessing the difficulty respondents experienced in walking across a room, dressing, bathing, eating, and transferring (getting in and out of bed). The IADL scale included questions assessing the difficulty respondents experienced when using the telephone, shopping, preparing food, taking medication, and handling finances. Each score (ADL and IADL) ranged from 0-5, with a higher score indicating that a respondent was able to perform a larger number of activities without impairment. The scores were summary variables constructed as counts of the number of ADL or IADL activities with which individuals reported at least "some difficulty", so an individual with a score of 0 reported impairments in 0 activities, while an individual with a score of 5 reported impairments in all 5 activities.

Both scores were used as continuous variables when modeling relationships with overall complexity (at baseline, at follow-up, and longitudinally). For models examining subcomponents of complexity, each score was dichotomized into categories of "no impairment" and "one or more impairments".



## **3.9 Covariates**

Socio-demographic covariates included age, gender, marital status, income (annual household income in dollars), years of education (0 to 17+), race, perceived health status, history of hospital stay in the previous two years, health insurance coverage, Medicare part D status, depression, number of people in the household, and number of chronic conditions.

## **Demographic Data Variables**

Older adults were categorized into three age groups (in years): 65-74, 75-84, and 85 and above. Gender was categorized as male or female. Race was categorized as white, black, or other. Marital status was categorized as married or non-married (non-married includes never married, divorced, separated, and widowed). Annual income was grouped into five categories based on rounded cutoffs for the 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, 75<sup>th</sup>, and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles. This resulted in categories of \$0-\$15,999, \$16,000-\$28,999, \$29,000-\$50,999, \$51,000-\$134,999 and over \$135,000. Years of education was classified as "no degree", "high school", "some college", and "college degree". Number of individuals in the household included the respondent, and was grouped into categories of 1, 2-3, 4 or more.

## Access to Health Care Variables

Insurance coverage status was treated as a dichotomous variable based on whether the participant had any form of coverage (covered by federal government health insurance program, covered by health insurance from a current or previous employer, covered by other health insurance) or no coverage. Medicare Part D prescription coverage was introduced between the 2005 and 2007 waves, and thus was included only in follow-up and longitudinal models, but not in the baseline models. In models that included Medicare Part D, it was treated as a type of insurance coverage and incorporated into the dichotomous insurance coverage variable. History



of hospital stays in the previous 2 years was treated as a dichotomous variable coded as yes or no.

#### **Health Status Variables**

The health status variable was obtained from the survey question asking participants to self-rate their current general health condition. Excellent, very good and good were grouped together and the variable was categorized as (excellent/very good/good, fair, or poor). Number of chronic conditions was based on the number of questions to which participants had answered yes when asked "Has a doctor ever told you that you have [condition]?" Conditions included in the questionnaire were 1) high blood pressure or hypertension 2) diabetes or high blood sugar 3) cancer or a malignant tumor of any kind except skin cancer 4) chronic lung disease such as chronic bronchitis or emphysema 5) heart attack, coronary heart disease, angina, congestive heart failure, or other heart problems 6) stroke or transient ischemic attack 7) emotional, nervous, or psychiatric problems and 8) arthritis or rheumatism. The number of chronic conditions variable was then categorized into none, 1-2, 3-4, and 5 or more. Depression was measured using a continuous score derived from the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) scale and was dichotomized into depression or no depression.

#### 3.10 Missing Data

Following the initial application of inclusion and exclusion criteria, individuals were checked for missing or invalid data. 11% of individuals who had met the initial criteria were excluded for missing or invalid data on one or more variables. 2% of individuals had only invalid prescriptions (prescription for which no frequency or format data was available). A further 8% of individuals had not completed the prescription inventory despite answering "yes" to one or more questions about taking medication. 1% of participants were excluded for reporting implausibly high dosage frequency in 2007. For all other variables, including the main exposures (cognitive



and functional impairment) less than 5% of participants had missing data. Complete case deletion was used to address the problem of missing data. To ensure that this deletion did not create selection bias, individuals who were excluded for reasons related to the prescription inventory (missing prescription inventory, invalid entries, or implausible dosage frequencies) were compared to the rest of the sample on all major covariates using chi-square tests or Fisher exact tests (depending on cell size). Individuals who were missing data on complexity were significantly more likely to be unmarried, have a low income, more likely to have less than a high school education, and more likely to be African American.

## **3.11 Statistical Analyses**

Descriptive statistics were used to describe the baseline characteristics of our sample. Continuous variables were expressed as the weighted mean ± standard deviation (SD). Categorical variables were expressed as the unweighted frequency and weighted percent. For both continuous and categorical variables, results were weighted to account for complex sample design. To ensure comparability to the general HRS population, including in more recent years, descriptive statistics were repeated using all participants in the 2012 wave of the HRS. The results of this 2012 descriptive analysis can be found in Appendix B.

The predictors were then examined for compatibility with the assumptions of the linear regression model. For continuous predictors, linearity of association with the outcome, normality of residuals, and homoscedasticity of residuals were checked. The residuals were not normally distributed, so the outcome variable complexity was log transformed, after which the regression assumptions were met. Residuals were also examined to detect extreme outliers. For categorical predictors, equal variance of residuals across categories was checked. All analyses were conducted using survey procedures to account for complex sample design. Because it is possible



that the structure or composition of the PDS sample may have differed from that of the broader HRS sample, weights specific to the PDS sample were used instead of the original HRS weights.

For aim I, characterization of medication regimen complexity among community dwelling older adults, distributions of each complexity sub-component were checked for normality. Because non-normal distributions were detected, the median and inter-quartiles ranges were used to summarize the total mMRCI score and each portion of the mMRCI calculation (number of medications, dosage form and dosage frequency). Dosage form and frequency were treated as categorical variables and were summarized by reporting the most prevalent dosage form and the most frequently observed dosage frequency among the population.

For the analysis for aims II and III, sub-aims 1, 2 (assessing the association between medication regimen complexity and cognitive and functional status), survey-weighted multivariable linear regression was used to examine the cross-sectional association between mMRCI and each exposure (cognitive status and ADL status, and IADL status). For the association between mMRCI score and cognitive status, multivariable linear regression models were performed cross-sectionally at baseline and at follow-up. Similar analyses were applied to assess the association between mMRCI score and functional status, with initial models assessing cross-sectional associations. ADLs and IADLs were assessed separately. The assumptions of the linear regression model were assessed. The residuals of the bivariate analysis between each subscore for dosage form or dosage frequency and the main predictors were not normally distributed therefore log transformation was applied for the outcome. Finally, the "difficulty taking medication" IADL was examined separately in association with complexity in both years. The association between mMRCI score and both cognitive and functional impairment at baseline and after two years was also examined. Due to low sample sizes in both groups, the analyses could not be performed.



For the analysis for aim II.3 and III.3 ("Compare factors that contribute to medication regimen complexity in participants with and without cognitive impairment at baseline") surveyweighted linear regression was used to compare each individual element of the mMRCI between individuals with and without cognitive/functional impairments at baseline and after two years. The assumptions of the linear regression model were assessed. The residuals of the bivariate analysis between each sub-score for dosage form or dosage frequency and the main predictors were not normally distributed therefore log transformation was applied for the outcome.

For II.4 and III.4, survey-weighted multivariable linear regression was used to examine the change in mMRCI (2007 score - 2005 score) and its association with the change in cognitive status at baseline as well as its association with the change in functional status (ADL score, and IADL score separately). The assumptions of the linear regression model were assessed. Although the residuals in the bivariate analysis were normally distributed, there residual vs. predictor plot indicated heteroscedasticity, so the main predictors were categorized.

Change in yes/no covariates such as insurance coverage and history hospital stay were assessed by taking the 2007 value and subtracting the 2005 value. The result from the subtraction is (0, -1, and 1) which can then be used as a categorical variable. For the predictors ADLs, IADLs and cognitive status, changes were created by subtracting across the years, then coding the subtracted values into categories (0 = no change, < 0 = score decreased, > 0 = score increased). Changes in ordinal variables such as self-rated health were also categorized into no change, increase, and decrease. Other continuous variables (income, number of individuals in the household, and number of health conditions) were categorized by change status. Change in marital status was detected using subtraction, with a value of 0 indicating no change and values above or below 0 indicating a change.



Other covariates that were unlikely to change over the follow-up period such as gender and years of education were represented by using the baseline variable. Additionally, because all participants are expected to experience the same increase in age over the two-year follow-up period, the baseline variable for age was used.

- 1. Sensitivity analyses were performed to determine how the interview types (face to face vs telephone) would affect the results. Sensitivity analysis was done by performing the main analysis between cognition status and medication complexity at baseline and after two years with and without adjusting for the interview type variable and the same was done for functional status (ADL and IADL) with medication complexity at baseline and after two years. The results showed that after factoring in the interview type, the beta estimates of cognition, ADL, and IADL changed by less than 1%. This indicates that the interview type has no confounding effect.
- 2. Sensitivity analysis was performed, on the same people at baseline and after two years, by repeating the multivariable linear analysis of comparing complexity factors in participants with and without cognitive/functional impairment (ADL, IADL). The analysis was done on two groups and then on three groups (impaired at both timepoints, no impairment at both timepoints, and change in impairment between timepoints) and since the result produced similar results, it was decided to use only two groups for simplicity.
- A sensitivity analysis was performed using cognitive decline (defined as score below 20) to contrast the result with the results when using cognitive impairment (defined as a score below 11).
- The 2-way interaction was to test if any disease condition changed the association of mMRCI with cognitive/functional impairment. If no 2-way interactions were observed,



this would suggest that the other disease conditions did not change the association between mMRCI and cognitive or functional impairment. Interactions between cognition, ADL and IADL impairments and each disease conditions (cancer, heart disease, lung disease, arthritis, psyche, stroke, diabetes, hypertension and depression) were tested at baseline and after two years in the multivariable analysis. No significant interactions were detected for cognition and ADLs. However, significant interactions were found for IADLs and depression, therefore, stratified analysis was performed for IADL analysis by depression status.

5. Multicollinearity was examined among the continuous variables by checking the Pearson's correlation coefficient. Since a high level of correlation was found between ADL score and IADL score (r = 0.5, p<0.001) the two variables were kept in separate models, and neither variable was used as a covariate when examining the other. All statistical analyses were conducted using the SAS statistical software version 9.4 and using an alpha cutoff of 0.05.

## 3.12 Human Subject Protection and Data Privacy

The data from the main HRS survey is free and publicly available, however the Prescription Drug Study (PDS) is considered sensitive data and requires completing the Sensitive Data Access Use Agreement. The study also was reviewed and approved as exempt by the VCU IRB.

## **3.13 Sample Size of the study**

The starting sample size was 3412 participants. After applying eligibility criteria, 2433 members of the sample remained, and 979 participants were excluded. After excluding individuals who were missing data, 294 individuals were removed, and 2139 participant were remained. The exclusion of individuals in 2007 who were found to have reported implausible



values for drug frequency, resulting in a final sample size of 2113 participant. The diagram in figure 3.1 shows the details of this process.





Figure 1.1 Flow Chart Representing Inclusion and Exclusion for the Final Sample



# **Chapter 4: Results**

#### 4.1 Characteristics of the Study Sample

Of the 2113 eligible participants, 58.75% were between the ages of 65 and 74 years, 58.37% were female, 90.97% were white, 78.61% had a high school or more advanced level of education, 60.70% were married, and 57.32% earned more than \$28,000 per year. A large majority (99.37%) were covered by insurance, and 77.19% reported their health was "excellent", "very good" or "good". Approximately 12.30% of participants reported having difficulty in performing at least one of the ADLs, and approximately 9.80% reported having difficulty in performing at least one of the IADLs. Only 1.01% of the sample had cognitive impairment. In the 2007 data, the sample was slightly older, and had slightly higher prevalence for cognitive and functional impairments and chronic conditions. Demographic characteristics of the study sample at baseline and follow-up are summarized in Table 4.1. The results are weighted to account for the complex sample design.



Variables Total population n=2113	N, weighted frequency (%) (2005)	N, weighted frequency (%) (2007)
Age		
65–74 years	1302 (58.75)	1097 (45.75)
75–84 years	671 (34.84)	794 (41.84)
85 years or older	140 (6.40)	222 (12.40)
Gender		
Male	850 (41.62)	850 (41.62)
Female	1263 (58.37)	1263 (58.37)
Marital status		
married	1334 (60.70)	1261 (54.70)
non-married	778 (39.29)	852 (45.29)
Race		
White	1822 (90.97)	1822 (90.97)
Black	229 (6.02)	229 (6.02)
Other	62 (3.00)	62 (3.00)
Years of education		
No degree	535 (21.37)	535 (21.37)
High school	930 (43.90)	930 (43.90)
Some college	249 (12.95)	249 (12.95)
College degree	399 (21.76)	399 (21.76)
Income		
\$ 0 to 15999	500 (20.24)	483 (23.24)
\$16000 to 28999	512 (22.43)	511 (22.43)
\$ 29000 to 50999	547 (27.40)	567 (27.40)
\$ 51000 to 134999	445 (23.90)	457 (22.90)
\$ over 135000	109 (6.01)	95 (4.01)
Covered by insurance		
No	18 (0.62)	17 (0.75)
Yes	2092 (99.37)	2094 (99.24)

# Table 4.1 Summarizes the Demographic Characteristics of the Study Sample



Variables	N, weighted frequency (%)	N, weighted frequency (%)
Total population n=2113	(2005)	(2007)
Number of people living		
at house		
1	563 (28.63)	628 (33.63)
2-3	1441 (67.20)	1372 (62.20)
4 or more	109 (4.16)	113 (4.16)
Previous hospital stay		
No	1492 (71.37)	1441 (67.63)
Yes	618 (28.62)	669 (32.36)
Health		
Excellent/very good/good	1581 (77.19)	1525 (70.19)
Fair	402 (17.59)	439 (21.59)
Poor	129 (5.20)	144 (8.20)
ADL		
None	1836 (87.69)	1749 (81.03)
Impaired	277 (12.30)	364 (18.96)
IADL		
None	1894 (90.19)	1834 (85.16)
Impaired	219 (9.80)	279 (14.83)
Cognitive status		
Cognitive intact	2080 (98.98)	2040 (97.58)
Impaired	33 (1.01)	46 (2.41)
Number of conditions		
none	241 (11.40)	178 (8.40)
1-2	1118 (53.35)	1061 (49.35)
3-4	659 (30.88)	747 (35.88)
5 or more	95 (4.35)	127 (6.35)
Depression		
No	1854 (88.80)	1828 (86.31)
Yes	259 (11.19)	285 (13.68)



www.manaraa.com

## **4.2** Characterize Medication Complexity among the Population

Table 4.2 shows the survey-weighted and unweighted median values and interquartile ranges for total medication complexity and each of its subscores. The survey-weighted median will be presented in the results. The prescription complexity score ranged from 0 to 35, with a median of 5.24 and interquartile range (IQR) of 2.65 to 8.98 The number of medications ranged from 0 to 10 medications. The upper limit of 10 was created because the space provided for participants to fill out section "E" in the survey was limited to only 10 medications. Additional medications could be listed in a separate file but did not include details such as form and frequency, these medications were not counted towards complexity. The median number of medications was 2.86 (IQR 1.29 to 5.02). The complexity subscore from dosage form ranged from 0 to 14 with a median of 0.80 (IQR 0.33 to 1.75). Lastly, the complexity subscore from dosage frequency ranged from 0 to 27 with a median of 3.56 (IQR 1.49 to 6.78). All measurements showed small increases in 2007, as shown in Table 4.3.

In Table 4.4, the most common dosage form among the participants was oral medication (tables/capsule) with 91.68% of the population taking at least one tablet or capsule. The next most common form was inhaled medication, used by 9.02% of the population, followed by other dosage forms (ointment, cream, injection, etc.) used by 7.54%, and lastly drops (eyedrops or ear drops) used by 5.63%. The most common dosage frequency among the population was once per day with 87.79% taking at least one medication on this schedule, followed by two times per day with 47.39% of the population, followed by three times with 10.36% and lastly four times a day with 9.47% of the population. The prevalence of most dosage frequencies and forms showed small increases in 2007, as shown in Table 4.5.



Variables	Score range	Weighted median	Un-weighted median
		(IQR)	(IQR)
Medication complexity	0-35	5.24 (2.65 to 8.98)	6.00 (3.00 to 9.00)
Number of medications	0-10	2.86 (1.29 to 5.02)	3.00 (2.00 to 5.00)
Dosage form score	0-14	0.80 (0.33 to 1.75)	1.00 (1.00 to 2.00)
Dosage frequency score	0-27	3.56 (1.49 to 6.78)	4.00 (2.00 to 7.00)

# Table 4.2 Medication Complexity Sub-Component Scores (2005)

 Table 4.3 Medication Complexity Sub-Component Scores (2007)

Variables	Score range	Weighted median	Un-weighted median
		(IQR)	(IQR)
Medication complexity	0-35	6.45 (3.39 to 10.61)	7.00 (4.00 to 11.00)
Number of medications	0-10	3.73 (1.97 to 6.13)	4.00 (2.00 to 6.00)
Dosage form score	0-18	1.10 (0.46 to 1.95)	2.00 (1.00 to 2.00)
Dosage frequency score	0-23	4.47 (1.97 to 7.88)	5.00 (2.00 to 8.00)



Dosage form	Weighted percentage
Tablet/ Capsule	91.68%
Inhalation	9.02%
Others	7.54%
Drops	5.63%
Dosage frequency	Weighted percentage
Once/day	87.79%
Twice/day	47.39%
Three/day	10.36%
Four or more/day	9.47%

# Table 4.4 Percent of People Having Each Dosage Form and Dosage Frequency in 2005

# Table 4.5 Percent of People Having Each Dosage Form and Dosage Frequency in 2007

Dosage form	Weighted percentage
Tablet/ Capsule	92.81%
Inhalation	10.69%
Others	9.14%
Drops	5.93%
Dosage frequency	Weighted percentage
Once/day	88.59%
Twice/day	46.61%
Three/day	13.42%
Four or more/day	9.43%



# **4.3** The Association between Medication Complexity and Cognitive Status at Baseline and after Two Years

The fully-adjusted model at baseline showed that after adjusting for all covariates, for every one-unit increase in cognition score, the medication complexity score was 1.02 times higher (p<0.0001). This was confirmed by repeating the model after two years: in the 2007 data, it was found that after adjusting for all covariates, for every one-unit increase in cognition score, complexity increased by a factor of 1.01 (p= 0.0392). (Table 4.6)

Variables	ß Coefficient*	P-value
At baseline		
Cognitive status	1.02	<0.0001
After two years		
Cognitive status	1.01	0.0392

Table 4.6 Adjusted Association between Cognitive Status and Medication Complexity

\* Due to a violation of the linearity assumption for regression, tests were performed on a logtransformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values



**4.4** Compare Factors that Contribute to Medication Complexity in Participants with and without Cognitive Impairment at Baseline and after Two Years

Comparing the complexity factors in those with and without cognitive impairment (defined as score below 11) at baseline indicated that there were no statistically significant differences in the number of medications score, dosage form score, or dosage frequency score between the two groups (p =0.5087), (p=0.9348), and (p=0.9691), respectively. The analysis was repeated after two years, and again did not detect any significant differences in the number of medications (p=0.4156), dosage form score (p=0.0512), or dosage frequency score (p=0.1687) between the two groups. (Table 4.7)

A sensitivity analysis was performed using cognitive decline (defined as score below 20) to contrast this with the results when using cognitive impairment (defined as a score below 11). While 1.01% of the sample met the criteria for cognitive impairment, 20.12% of the sample met the criteria for cognitive decline. Table 4.6 shows the results of the sensitivity analysis using the exposure of cognitive decline. These results indicated that there were significant differences between those with cognitive decline and good cognition in number of medications ( $\beta$  =0.90, p=0.0037) and dosage frequency scores ( $\beta$  =0.86, p=0.0019) at baseline. After adjusting for all covariates, individuals with cognitive decline had lower dosage frequency ( $\beta$  =0.92, p=0.0368) and dosage form ( $\beta$  =0.91, p=0.0305), than those who had good cognition, and no significant difference in the number of medications between the two groups after two years. (Table 4.8)



Variables at baseline	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications		
Cognitive impairment	0.94	0.5087
Dosage form		
Cognitive impairment	0.93	0.9348
Dosage frequency		
Cognitive impairment	0.99	0.9691
Variables after two years	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications		
Cognitive impairment	0.95	0.4156
Dosage form		
Cognitive impairment	0.87	0.0512
Dosage frequency		
Cognitive impairment	0.86	0.1687

# Table 4.7 Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Cognitive Impairment

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



Table 4.8 Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and
without Cognitive Decline

Variables at baseline	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications		
Cognitive impairment	0.90	0.0037
Dosage form		
Cognitive impairment	0.95	0.1585
Dosage frequency		
Cognitive impairment	0.86	0.0019
Variables after two years	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications Cognitive impairment	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92	<b>p-value</b> 0.1902
Variables after two years Number of medications Cognitive impairment Dosage form	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92	<b>p-value</b> 0.1902
Variables after two years Number of medications Cognitive impairment Dosage form Cognitive impairment	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92 0.91	<b>p-value</b> 0.1902 0.0305
Variables after two years Number of medications Cognitive impairment Dosage form Cognitive impairment Dosage frequency	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92 0.91	<b>p-value</b> 0.1902 0.0305

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.


# 4.5 The Association between Medication Complexity and Functional (ADL and IADL) Status at Baseline and after Two Years

### **ADL Impairments**

At baseline, adjusted comparison of complexity score and ADL score showed that after adjusting for all covariates, for one-unit increase in ADL score, medication complexity was 1.06 times higher (p=0.0029). This association remained significant after two years (p=0.0243). (Table 4.9)

Variables	ß Coefficient*	p-value
ADL at baseline		
Functional status	1.06	0.0029
ADL after two years		
Functional status	1.04	0.0243

Table 4.9 Adjusted Association between ADL Functional Status
and Medication Complexity

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



#### **IADL Impairments**

At baseline, there was significant association between IADL score and medication complexity. For one-unit increase in IADL score, complexity was 1.07 times higher (p=0.0130). This association did not remain significant after two years (p=0.2412). (Table 4.10)

Interactions between number of IADL impairments and each disease participant have been tested at baseline and after two years. Significant interactions were detected between depression and IADL score at both baseline and follow-up. Due to this interaction, the analyses were repeated using stratification by depression status. (Table 4.11)

For participants without depression, at baseline after adjusting for all covariates, for one-unit increase in IADL score, medication complexity was 1.14 times higher (p=0.0001) and for participants with depression, no significant association between IADL score and complexity score was detected at baseline (p=0.4679). After two years, for participants without depression, after adjusting for all covariates, for one-unit increase in IADL score, medication complexity was 1.05 times higher (p=0.0334) and for participants with depression, no significant association between IADL score and complexity was 1.05 times higher (p=0.0334) and for participants with depression, no significant association between IADL score and complexity score was detected (p=0.4003). (Table 4.11).

The number of individual who reported having difficulty taking medication in the IADL measure was 26. In addition to that, the number of individuals with both cognitive impairment and ADL impairment (n = 8) and both cognitive impairment and IADL impairment (n = 12) were too low to provide adequate power for statistical testing, so individuals with difficulty taking medication and multiple categories of impairment could not be analyzed as a separate group.



Table 4.10 Association betwe	en IADL Functional St	tatus and Medication	Complexity
		atus ana micuication	Complexity

Variables	ß Coefficient*	p-value
IADL (unstratified) analysis at baseline		
Functional status	1.07	0.0130
IADL (unstratified) analysis at after two years		
Functional status	1.02	0.2412

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values

Table 4.11 Association between IADL Functional Status and Medication
Complexity, Stratified by Depression

Variables	Not depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value	Depressed ß Coefficient *	p-value
IADLs at baseline	1.14	0.0001	0.97	0.4679
IADLs after two years	1.05	0.0334	0.96	0.4003

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



# **4.6** Compare Factors that Contribute to Medication Complexity in Participants with and without Functional Impairment (ADL and IADL) at Baseline and after Two Years

### **ADL Impairments**

There was a significant difference in the number of medications and dosage frequency between the ADL-impaired and the ADL-unimpaired groups. After adjusting for all covariates, ADL functional impairment was associated with a higher number of medications ( $\beta = 1.13$ , p = <.0001) and a higher dosage frequency ( $\beta = 1.14$ , p = 0.0005) compared to those without ADL impairment. There was no significant difference in the dosage form score between the two groups at baseline (p=0.9174). These results were repeated after two years, and results showed the same. After adjusting for all covariates, individual who have ADL impairment are associated with higher number of medications and higher dosage frequency than those without ADL impairment ( $\beta = 1.09$ , p=0.0170), ( $\beta = 1.07$ , p=0.0431) respectively. (Table 4.12)



Variables at baseline	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications		
Functional impairment	1.13	<0.0001
Dosage form		
Functional impairment	1.00	0.9174
Dosage frequency		
Functional impairment	1.14	0.0005
Variables after two years	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.09	<b>p-value</b> 0.0170
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.09	<b>p-value</b> 0.0170
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment	<b>β Coefficient*</b> 1.09 1.02	<b>p-value</b> 0.0170 0.3294
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment Dosage frequency	<b>β Coefficient*</b> 1.09 1.02	<b>p-value</b> 0.0170 0.3294

## Table 4.12 Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and withoutFunctional Impairment in ADLs

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



#### **IADL Impairments**

There was a significant difference in the number of medications and dosage frequency between the IADL-impaired and IADL-unimpaired groups. After adjusting for all covariates, IADL functional impairment was associated with higher number of medications ( $\beta = 1.17$ , p=0.0017) and a higher dosage frequency score ( $\beta = 1.23$ , p=0.0002) compared to those without IADL impairment. There was no significant difference in the dosage form score between the two groups at baseline (p=0.1505). These results were repeated after two years, results showed that no significant difference was found for number of medications, dosage form and dosage frequency between the two groups (Table 4.13).

### IADL Impairments Stratified by Depression

After adjusting for all covariates, individuals with IADL impairment and who were not depressed had significantly higher numbers of medications than individuals without impairments ( $\beta$ =1.24, p=0.0002). Individuals with IADL impairments also had significantly higher scores for dosage frequency ( $\beta$ =1.32, p <.0001) and dosage form ( $\beta$ =1.12, p= 0.0366) at baseline. These differences remained significant only for number of medications but not for dosage form and dosage frequency after two years. Those with IADL impairment and not depressed had higher number of medication ( $\beta$ =1.13, p=0.0426) than those without IADL impairment. Among individuals with depression, those with and without IADL impairments did not differ in number of medications, dosage form score, or dosage frequency score. This result was the same at baseline and after two years. (Table 4.14).



www.manaraa.com

Variables at baseline	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications		
Functional impairment	1.17	0.0017
Dosage form		
Functional impairment	1.07	0.1505
Dosage frequency		
Functional impairment	1.23	0.0002
Variables after two years	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications	ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.03	<b>p-value</b> 0.4267
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.03	<b>p-value</b> 0.4267
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.03 1.05	<b>p-value</b> 0.4267 0.2146
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment Dosage frequency	<b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.03 1.05	<b>p-value</b> 0.4267 0.2146

### Table 4.13 Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Functional Impairment in IADLs

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



Variables at baseline	Not depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value	Depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value
Number of medications				
Functional impairment	1.24	0.0002	1.00	0.9573
Dosage form				
Functional impairment	1.12	0.0366	0.96	0.6458
Dosage frequency				
Functional impairment	1.32	<.0001	1.01	0.9310
Variables after two years	Not depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value	Depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications	Not depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value	Depressed ß Coefficient*	p-value
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment	Not depressed ß Coefficient* 1.13	<b>p-value</b> 0.0426	<b>Depressed</b> <b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92	<b>p-value</b> 0.3277
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form	<b>Not depressed</b> <b>ß Coefficient*</b> 1.13	<b>p-value</b> 0.0426	<b>Depressed</b> <b>ß Coefficient*</b> 0.92	<b>p-value</b> 0.3277
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment	Not depressed ß Coefficient* 1.13 1.06	<b>p-value</b> 0.0426 0.2145	Depressed ß Coefficient* 0.92 1.03	<b>p-value</b> 0.3277 0.6464
Variables after two years Number of medications Functional impairment Dosage form Functional impairment Dosage frequency	Not depressed ß Coefficient* 1.13 1.06	<b>p-value</b> 0.0426 0.2145	Depressed ß Coefficient* 0.92 1.03	<b>p-value</b> 0.3277 0.6464

## Table 4.14 Comparison of Complexity Factors in Participants with and without Functional Impairment in IADLs

\* Tests were performed on a log-transformed version of the variable, but results have been exponentiated to return to original values.



# **4.7** Assess the Change in Medication Regimen Complexity Score and its Association with Change in Cognitive and Functional Status over Two Years

The analysis of the association between the change in mMRCI score and the change in each of the main predictors (ADL status, IADL status, and cognitive status) showed that there were no significant differences in the changes in mMRCI score after two years. (Table 4.15)

Variables	ß Coefficient	p-value
Cognitive status		
No change	Ref	Ref
Cognitive declined	-0.19	0.5068
Cognitive improved	0.01	0.9956
Functional status (ADL)		
No change	Ref	Ref
Functional declined	0.19	0.7579
Functional improved	0.24	0.6003
Functional status (IADL)		
No change	Ref	Ref
Functional declined	0.67	0.3166
Functional improved	0.57	0.2614

### Table 4.15 Association Between Change in Predictors and Changes in Medication Complexity



#### 4.8 Summery

These results support the existence of a relationship between good cognition and complexity, with cognitive impairment associated with lower medication regimen complexity. The decreased complexity was primarily due to the less complicated dosage forms and dosage frequencies prescribed to these individuals. ADL impairment shows more robust association with the increasing of medication regimen complexity than IADL impairment. ADL impairment was associated with higher medication regimen complexity at both baseline and after two years, with the number of medications and dosage frequency showing similar increases. The association between IADL and medication regimen complexity needs further investigation. Stratifying by depression status, IADL impairment was found to predict higher complexity in participants without depression but not participants with depression. There was no significant relationship between changes in cognitive/functional status and changes in medication regimen complexity over two years, however there is a need to continue to assess these changes over a longer period of time.



#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

#### 5.1 The Relationship between Cognitive Status and Medication Regimen Complexity

Higher cognitive scores were associated with higher medication regimen complexity, and lower cognitive scores were associated with lower complexity. This association could be the result of prescribers stopping or decreasing medications for cognitively impaired patients in consideration of the disease trajectory, treatment care goals, and life expectancy of the patients.<sup>133</sup> The observed decrease in medication complexity was present regardless of the type of chronic disease affecting the patient. This might reflect a switch from potentially curative therapy intended to prolong the patient's life to palliative treatment intended to provide symptomatic relief while reducing the adverse effects from medication.<sup>134</sup> Furthermore, the deterioration of the cognitive function might lead the physicians to reassess the patient's medication regimen which leads to reductions in medication regimen complexity.<sup>133</sup> Patients or care providers may also request that physicians prescribe a simpler regimen in response to subclinical or overt cognitive impairment. This is consistent with a previous study by Lee et al. which reported that cognitive impairment was inversely associated with medication regimen complexity and suggested that clinicians may have made the regimens less complicated in order to make it more convenient for the patients to manage their medications.<sup>35</sup> This is also consistent with the results of Wimmer et al. who found that patients with more complex regimens had higher cognitive scores than patients with less complex regimens.36

The attributable reason of why cognitive impairment was associated with lower complexity was further investigated. Using a cutoff score of 11 to define cognitive impairment<sup>135,131</sup>, the



cognitively impaired group did have fewer medications and less complex dosage forms and dosage frequencies, but these differences were not statistically significant. The results may not have reached significance because only a very small proportion of the sample (1.01%) had a cognitive score below the cutoff. Sensitivity analysis using a higher cutoff of 20 to represent cognitive decline,<sup>136</sup> resulted in 20.12% of the sample being classified as having lower cognitive performance. With this definition, the results showed that at baseline those with cognitive decline had significantly lower number of medication and less dosage frequencies.

After two years still, those with cognitive decline had less dosage frequencies in addition to less complex dosage forms. However, number of medication no longer become significant with the higher cognitive score cutoff; there were no differences in the number of medications between the cognitive decline and normal cognitive function groups after two years. This is consistent with the results of Lee et al. who found no difference in number of medications between groups, and who suggested that the differences in complexity could result from other factors such as form and frequency.<sup>35</sup>

#### 5.2 The Relationship between Functional Status and Medication Regimen Complexity

Higher ADL scores (which indicate greater functional impairment) were associated with higher medication regimen complexity at baseline and after two years. This was consistent with the results of Herson et al.<sup>34</sup> who found that independence in activities of daily living (ADLs) was associated with low regimen complexity. Our results indicated that the higher medication regimen complexity in the functionally impaired group was attributable to significantly higher numbers of prescriptions, as well as higher dosage frequencies. Many chronic conditions require treatment, thus multiple comorbidities are associated with higher medication regimen complexity.<sup>36</sup> Depending on the severity of the conditions, patients may have increased number of medications, dosage forms, and frequencies of intake. Chronic conditions may also lead to difficulties in



walking, standing, and fine motor skills, contributing to functional impairment.<sup>137</sup> However, no interactions were found between functional impairment and specific chronic conditions, indicating that functional impairment was associated with increased complexity regardless of which specific chronic conditions were present.

The findings from this study show that ADL functional impairment scores can serve as a predictor of medication regimen complexity, which suggests that there are opportunities for health care providers to intervene by re-assessing medication regimens for functionally impaired patients. Complex medication regimes have been linked with poor adherence.<sup>25,27</sup> Functional impairment is also known to reduce compliance with medication regimens.<sup>105,106</sup> These results indicate that more effort is required to reduce medication regimen complexity in geriatric patients with impaired ADLs.

Although there was an association between ADL impairment and complexity, there was no clear association between IADL impairment and medication complexity. The association was significant at baseline but not after two years. Therefore, this association requires further investigation. One way to interpret the results would be to look at the relationship between IADL and cognitive impairment. The high correlation between cognitive decline and a decline in the ability to perform IADLs has been shown in previous studies.<sup>138,139</sup> IADLs require more complex neuropsychological processing capacity than ADLs and therefore are more prone to deterioration triggered by cognitive decline.<sup>140,141</sup> In particular, a decline in executive function can be a key contributor to impairment in IADLs.<sup>138</sup> Functional deficits have been observed early in the course of cognitive decline.<sup>142,143</sup> Nygård et al. reported that IADLs can be impaired before the onset of dementia, and should therefore be included in the diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment.<sup>144</sup>

Therefore, we could assume that doctors tend to reduce the medication complexity for their patients based on their cognitive function. Meanwhile, the functional status of the patients is often



not investigated as much. Establishing a baseline of cognitive function and functional status is not the current standard of practice. The functional and cognitive status of patients has been shown to correlate well with multiple outcomes such as their length of hospitalization, recovery and their ability to carry out their activities post recovery. In order to have better data to assess the relationship between functional status IADLs and medication regimen complexity, we must promote their assessment as the standard of care in various medical settings.<sup>145</sup>

When stratifying by depression status, the result showed that IADL impairment was significantly associated with higher medication regimen complexity only in the strata of individuals without depression, and that there was no significant association between IADL impairment and medication regimen complexity for individuals with depression. The lack of a significant result in the depression strata could have been due to the relatively small sample size of this strata (259 people) which may have reduced statistical power, however the interaction term between IADL impairment and depression stratus was significant in the unstratified model which suggests that there may be a true underlying difference.

Although depression treatment may lead to increases in medication regimen complexity<sup>35</sup>, individuals with depression often do not seek help or receive treatment. Individuals with depression are also more likely to neglect their health, less likely to seek medical advice, and more likely to forget to take their medications or even pick them up.<sup>146</sup> Depression may be a barrier to adherence with a complicated medication regimen, with patients who are depressed being less likely to take their medications as prescribed.<sup>147</sup> It has been reported that there is a threefold increase in the odds of non-compliance among individuals with depression.<sup>148</sup> As such, this lack of significance could be explained by the fact that even if these individuals should have had a high number of medications, they may not have sought help or been compliant with their medication regimens, leading to lower medication use and therefore lower reported complexity.



## **5.3** The Relationship between Changes in Cognitive/Functional Status and Changes in the Medication Regimen Complexity

There were no significant associations between changes in cognitive impairment, ADL impairment, or IADL impairment and changes in complexity over two years. In an aging population, there are some characteristics like cognition, functional ability, and medication complexity that are expected to change over time. Cognition and function will likely decline, due in part to the natural process of aging.<sup>149</sup> Similarly, as older adults age they face more health issues, that often require them to take multiple medications to treat chronic health problems and, based on that, the nature of medication complexity will also change becoming more complex.<sup>10,11,12</sup> These changes may take years to manifest, and the ages at which they occur may differ between individuals based on genetics, lifestyle, and prior medical history.<sup>150</sup> Rates of decline may become more rapid in the later stages of disease, which may not be captured with only two years of follow-up.<sup>151</sup> Another important factor to consider is hospitalization, which is associated with greater changes in cognitive and functional impairment and with increases in complexity.<sup>152</sup> Only 28.6% of our sample reported hospitalization during the two years of follow up, which may have limited our ability to detect hospitalization-related changes.

Descriptive analysis found that the majority of the sample (58.75%) was in the youngest age group of 65-74 years old. Most of the sample (98.98%) had good cognition, and the prevalence of ADL impairments and IADL impairments was low (12.30% and 9.80% respectively). 77.19% of participants reported that their health was excellent, very good, or good. The prevalence of most chronic conditions was low, with the exceptions of hypertension (66.52%) and arthritis (62.83%). These results indicate that participants in the Prescription Drug Study were a fairly healthy sample. The prevalence of most chronic conditions, and the prevalence of ADL and IADL impairments, did not differ between the PDS sample and the overall HRS sample.



For comparison, the sample used in this study was compared to a more recent HRS sample from 2012. Similar to the PDS, the majority of the HRS 2012 participants (57.12%) were in the youngest age group (65 to 74 years old). The majority of the sample had good cognition (96.55%), 15.02% reported IADL impairments, and 16.84% reported ADL impairment. As in the PDS sample, the prevalence of most of the chronic conditions was low, with the exceptions of hypertension (68.34%) and arthritis (68.94%). 73.13% of participants reported that their health was excellent, very good, or good. Details of the 2012 comparison sample can be found in appendix B.

Over the two years of follow-up, the PDS sample did not experience large changes in the prevalence of cognitive impairment (1.01% vs. 2.41%), IADL impairment (9.80% vs. 14.83%), or ADL impairment (12.30% vs. 18.90%). This may also help to explain why no significant relationship was detected between changes in these predictors and changes in complexity between the two periods.

#### 5.4 Strengths and Limitations

Results should be interpreted in light of the strengths and limitations of this study. Although the data was longitudinal, only two years of follow-up were available in the PDS, so any changes occurring beyond these two years were not captured. Although a longer follow-up period would be desirable this data is not currently available. PDS data was not captured at the same time as the primary HRS survey data, thus it is possible that undetected changes between times of measurement may influence results (for example, an individual with low impairment in the 2004 HRS survey may have suffered a stroke and experienced increased impairment before the 2005 PDS survey). Because the HRS used both telephone and face-to-face interview modes, and only a subset of cognitive tests could be performed during the telephone interviews, it was not possible to measure all aspects of cognitive function such as executive function.



As with all survey data, bias affecting self-reported answers cannot be eliminated. The medication inventory is completed by the participants as part of a mail-in survey or telephone interview. Cognitive impairment may have impacted the reporting of medication because people with cognitive impairment may be less able to provide accurate medication information, creating recall bias. It was possible to check for certain types of missing information. The impaired and unimpaired groups did not show large differences in the percent of individuals leaving the prescription inventory section blank (5.7% and 6.4%, respectively). The percent of individuals who omitted frequency or format details for at least one prescriptions also did not show large differences (29.8% in those without cognitive impairment, and 28.7% in those with cognitive impairment). Other missing information could not be checked, such as individuals leaving prescriptions out of the inventory or providing inaccurate details, so it is still possible that this could have contributed to bias. The measures used in HRS to assess functional status are also based on self-report of participants' functional status at the time of interview and may not capture fluctuations in functional status over time unless they are substantial.

Although the PDS survey asked participants to report their over the counter medications in a separate section, this section did not include any details about dosage form and dosage frequency, so only prescription medications were considered when calculating the complexity score. Individuals with partially missing prescription details were included in the study, which likely led to lower complexity scores for these participants as the missing data could not count towards their complexity scores. Although the low scores for these individuals are not ideal, including these individuals in the sample was still preferable, because omitting them would have excluded a large proportion of the sample and would also have led to biased and nonrepresentative sample. The detailed drug report section allowed a maximum of 10 prescriptions, so individuals with more than 10 prescriptions could not report all their medications and would also



have received lower complexity scores. Of the 2113 participants, only 54 people (2.6%) at baseline and 83 people (3.9%) at follow-up responded to the question "How many medications do you take regularly?" with a number greater than 10. This means that most of the sample would have been able to report all of their medications in the prescription inventory, which reduces the potential impact of this limitation. Finally, because the PDS data lacked information about additional directions included with the prescription, the complexity measurement instrument used in this study was a modified scale that did not account for this dimension of complexity, leading to a lower total complexity score. Although this reduces comparability with other studies that used the full instrument, the modified instrument has also been used in other studies, so it is possible to compare the results of this study with some existing literature. (cite) Additionally, existing literature using the full complexity instrument has reported that form and frequency are the two components with the greatest effect on complexity, and these two factors are included in the modified instrument.

It was not possible to perform analysis of individuals with both functional and cognitive impairment due to small sample sizes (8 people had both cognitive and ADL impairments, and 12 people had both cognitive and IADL impairments). The criteria excluding those interviewed by proxy at baseline (7.3% of the population) is likely to have led to underrepresentation of those with the most severe cognitive or functional impairments and may also have led to underrepresentation of individuals with both cognitive and functional impairment. However, the purpose of this study was to examine complexity among people who were able to care for themselves and were likely to be managing their own medications, and such individuals would be unlikely to be interviewed by proxy, so the exclusion criteria were consistent with the study intentions. However, future studies examining complexity in more severely impaired individuals are recommended.



Due to the data usage agreement with the HRS, it was not possible to share the prescription details with others. With only one person coding the prescriptions, it was not possible to test interrater reliability. However, the differences between prescription complexity in 2005 (where prescription details were coded by hand) and 2007 (where the majority of prescription details were coded by HRS staff) were not large and were in the expected direction (as study participants got older, their complexity was expected to increase) which suggests that the hand-coded details were fairly consistent with the HRS-coded details.

The PDS data was collected in 2005 and 2007, and it is possible that there may have been some changes in clinical and prescribing practices since then. However, recent literature suggests that the need to assess for cognitive and functional impairments in clinical settings is still an important issue, which would suggest that practitioners are still often not accounting for these factors. Thus, although this study uses older data, it still contributes important information to support the need for prescribers to assess impairment and review medication complexity to improve adherence in older adults.

This study also had several strengths, including the use of a complexity score that reflected multiple dimension of complexity (number of medications, dosage form, and dosage frequency), the use of longitudinal data, and the availability of detailed covariates that allowed for thorough assessment of confounding. This study also assessed ADL, IADL, and cognitive impairment in tandem in the same sample, and was the first study to do so using longitudinal data from a nationally-representative sample. Another strength of this study was that interactions were examined between chronic conditions and each of the main predictors, which confirmed that the associations between impairment and complexity were robust across a variety of conditions.



#### **5.5 Implications and Future Directions**

The results of this study have three main implications for clinical practice. First, regular assessment of cognitive and functional impairments should be a standard of care for older adults. Second, it is important to review medications to identify complex regimens that increase risk of poor adherence. Finally, it is important to combine this information to identify individuals with impairments and complex medication regimens who may be particularly in need of interventions to reduce their regimen complexity while still meeting their medical needs.

To facilitate these recommendations, it will be important to have an interconnected system to manage information from all of a patient's healthcare providers, so doctors can be aware of all of their patients' prescriptions from different sources and be able to account for this in their own prescribing and to communicate any concerns to the patient's other providers. Doctors should also routinely assess for cognitive and functional impairment that may indicate a particularly strong need to reduce a patient's prescription complexity. Some programs, such as Medicare, have implemented a requirement for assessment of cognitive impairment as part of an annual wellness appointment, however more frequent assessments including both cognitive and functional impairment should become a routine standard of care.

The findings of this study can play a significant role in encouraging further research in this area. Although this is an observational study that cannot demonstrate causation, it does provide evidence of an association between complexity and impairment. Existing studies have shown that individuals with impairment are at higher risk poor adherence, and that higher complexity is also a risk factor for poor adherence. Based on this information, it seems reasonable to suggest an intervention study to assess whether reducing complexity for those with cognitive/functional impairment would improve their adherence. The intervention study could also include individuals with



impairments, especially individuals with functional impairments who are likely to have higher complexity. Also, more studies are needed to assess the association between cognitive/functional impairment and medication complexity over longer periods of time, particularly to clarify the relationship between IADL impairment and complexity. Further research is also needed to investigate how changes in cognitive/functional status would predict changes in medication complexity over longer periods of time. This would help determine how the changes in functional status would predict the changes in MRCI. Also, it would be interesting to include all prescriptions and over the counter medications in the study to determine which has the greatest effect on complexity. We were not able to determine this in our study because of the nature of HRS data that only captures full details for prescription medication.

#### **5.6 Conclusion**

This population-based retrospective longitudinal study was conducted to understand the cross-sectional associations between cognitive status, functional status and medication regimen complexity among older adults, and to examine how changes in these factors would predict the changes in medication regimen complexity over a period of two years. The analysis found that ADL impairment was a key predictor of higher medication regimen complexity but IADL impairment association with medication complexity needed further investigation. Cognitive impairment was associated with lower medication regimen complexity. None of the changes in these factors were predictors of change in medication regimen complexity over two years. Suggestions for future research in this area include 1) investigating the relationship between IADL impairment and medication regimen complexity among older adults, 2) studying the association between the change in cognitive/functional status and the change in medication regimen complexity over longer period of time, 3) studying the effect of medication regimen complexity on adherence of those with and without cognitive/functional impairment and 4) whether functional



status assessment in clinical practice would result in reduced medication complexity and therefore improved medication adherence.



### References

- 1. Random House I. Random House Kernerman Webster's College Dictionary.
- 2. Charlesworth CJ, Smit E, Lee DSH, Alramadhan F, Odden MC. Polypharmacy Among Adults Aged 65 Years and Older in the United States: 1988–2010. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2015;70(8):989-995. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv013.
- 3. Muir AJ, Sanders LL, Wilkinson WE, Schmader K. Reducing medication regimen complexity: A controlled trial. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2001;16(2):77-82. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016002077.x.
- 4. Masoodi N a. Polypharmacy: To Err is Human, To Correct Divine. *Br J Med Pract*. 2008;1(1):6-9. doi:10.1145/2659833.
- 5. Le Couteur DG, Ford GA, McLachlan AJ. Evidence, ethics and medication management in older people. *J Pharm Pract Res.* 2010;40(2):148-152.
- 6. Steinman MA, Hanlon JT. Managing medications in clinically complex elders: "There's got to be a happy medium." *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 2010;304(14):1592-1601. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1482.
- 7. Boyd CM, Darer J, Boult C, Fried LP, Boult L, Wu AW. Clinical practice guidelines and quality of care for older patients with multiple comorbid diseases: implications for pay for performance. *Jama*. 2005;294(6):716. doi:10.1001/jama.294.6.716.
- Slone Epidemiology Center. PATTERNS OF MEDICATION USE IN THE UNITED STATES 2006: A REPORT FROM THE SLONE SURVEY.; 2006. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:PATTERNS+OF+MEDI CATION+USE+IN+THE+UNITED+STATES+2006:+A+REPORT+FROM+THE+SLON E+SURVEY#0.
- 9. Maher RL, Hanlon J, Hajjar ER. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2014;13(1):57-65. doi:10.1517/14740338.2013.827660.
- 10. Ortman JM, Velkoff V a., Hogan H. An aging nation: The older population in the United States. *Econ Stat Adm US Dep Commer*. 2014;1964:1-28. doi:10.1016/j.jaging.2004.02.002.
- 11. Stewart RB, Cooper JW. Polypharmacy in the Aged: Practical Solutions. *Drugs Aging*. 1994;4(6):449-461. doi:10.2165/00002512-199404060-00002.
- Jindai K, Nielson CM, Vorderstrasse BA, Quiñones AR. Multimorbidity and Functional Limitations Among Adults 65 or Older, NHANES 2005–2012. *Prev Chronic Dis*. 2016;13:160174. doi:10.5888/pcd13.160174.
- 13. Laks J, Batista EMR, Guilherme ERL, et al. Prevalence of cognitive and functional impairment in community-dwelling elderly: Importance of evaluating activities of daily living. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr.* 2005;63(2):207-212. doi:10.1590/S0004-282X2005000200003.
- 14. Riebe D, Blissmer BJ, Greaney ML, Garber CE, Lees FD, Clark PG. The relationship between obesity, physical activity, and physical function in older adults. *J Aging Heal*.



2009;21(8):1159-1178. doi:10.1177/0898264309350076.

- 15. Tuna HD, Edeer AO, Malkoc M, Aksakoglu G. Effect of age and physical activity level on functional fitness in older adults. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act*. 2009;6(2):99-106. doi:10.1007/s11556-009-0051-z.
- 16. Murman DL. The Impact of Age on Cognition. *Semin Hear*. 2015;36(3):111-121. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1555115.
- 17. Colón-Emeric CS, Whitson HE, Pavon J, Hoenig H. Functional decline in older adults. *Am Fam Physician*. 2013;88(6):388-394. doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000277831.12796.84.
- 18. Alexander NB. Gait disorders in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 1996;44(4):434-451. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1996.tb06417.x.
- 19. Juster FT. The Health of Aging Populations. Vol Preparing.; 2005. doi:10.2307/2279474.
- 20. Thaler NS, Sayegh P, Arentoft A, Thames AD, Castellon SA, Hinkin CH. Increased neurocognitive intra-individual variability is associated with declines in medication adherence in HIV-infected adults. *Neuropsychology*. 2015;29(6):919-925. doi:10.1037/neu0000191.
- 21. Arlt S, Lindner R, Rosler A, von Renteln-Kruse W. Adherence to Medication in Patients with Dementia Predictors and Strategies for Improvement. *Drugs Aging*. 2008;25(12):1033-1047. doi:10.2165/0002512-200825120-00005.
- 22. Cline CMJ, Björck-Linné AK, Israelsson BYA, Willenheimer RB, Erhardt LR. Noncompliance and knowledge of prescribed medication in elderly patients with heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 1999;1(2):145-149. doi:10.1016/S1388-9842(99)00014-8.
- 23. Iuga AO, McGuire MJ. Adherence and health care costs. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. 2014;7:35-44. doi:10.2147/RMHP.S19801.
- 24. Aitken, M., & Valkova S. Avoidable costs in US Healthcare. IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics. 2013.
- 25. Ingersoll KS, Cohen J. The impact of medication regimen factors on adherence to chronic treatment: A review of literature. *J Behav Med*. 2008;31(3):213-224. doi:10.1007/s10865-007-9147-y.
- 26. Peterson AM, Takiya L, Finley R. Meta-analysis of trials of interventions to improve medication adherence. *Am J Health Syst Pharm*. 2003;60(7):657-665. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12701547.
- 27. World Health Organization(WHO). WHO ADHERENCE TO LONG-TERM THERAPIES: EVIDENCE FOR ACTION. *WHO*. 2015:Cap XIII 107-114.
- 28. WHO. Adherence to Long-Term therapies; Evidence for Action.; 2003.
- Mansur N, Weiss A, Beloosesky Y. Looking beyond polypharmacy: Quantification of medication regimen complexity in the elderly. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2012;10(4):223-229. doi:10.1016/j.amjopharm.2012.06.002.



- 30. Corsonello A, Pedone C, Lattanzio F, et al. Regimen complexity and medication nonadherence in elderly patients. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* 2009;5(1):209-216. doi:10.2147/TCRM.S4870.
- 31. McDonald M V., Peng TR, Sridharan S, et al. Automating the medication regimen complexity index. *J Am Med Informatics Assoc*. 2013;20(3):499-505. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001272.
- 32. Libby AM, Fish DN, Hosokawa PW, et al. Patient-Level Medication Regimen Complexity Across Populations With Chronic Disease. *Clin Ther*. 2013;35(4). doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.02.019.
- 33. Choudhry NK, Fischer MA, Avorn J, et al. The implications of therapeutic complexity on adherence to cardiovascular medications. *Arch Intern Med.* 2011;171(9):814-822. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.495.
- 34. Herson M, Bell JS, Tan ECK, Emery T, Robson L, Wimmer BC. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of long-term care facilities. *Eur Geriatr Med*. 2015;6(6):561-564. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2015.10.003.
- 35. Lee, D. S., De Rekeneire, N., Hanlon, J. T., Gill, T. M., Bauer, D. C., Meibohm, B., ... & Jeffery SM. Cognitive Impairment and Medication Complexity in Community-Living Older Adults: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. 2012:28(4), 156-162.
- 36. Wimmer BC, Johnell K, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Bell JS. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: A cross-sectional population-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;71(9):1099-1108. doi:10.1007/s00228-015-1883-2.
- Conn VS, Taylor SG, Kelley S. Medication Regimen Complexity and Adherence Among Older Adults. *Image J Nurs Scholarsh*. 1991;23(4):231-236. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.1991.tb00677.x.
- 38. George J, Phun YT, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Stewart K. Development validation of the medication regimen complexity index. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2004;38(9):1369-1376. doi:10.1345/aph.1D479.
- Kripalani S, Henderson LE, Chiu EY, Robertson R, Kolm P, Jacobson TA. Predictors of medication self-management skill in a low-literacy population. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2006;21(8):852-856. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00536.x.
- 40. Maddigan SL, Farris KB, Keating N, Wiens CA, Johnson JA. Predictors of Older Adults' Capacity for Medication Management in a Self-Medication Program. *J Aging Health*. 2003;15(2):332-352. doi:10.1177/0898264303251893.
- Martin S, Wolters PL, Calabrese SK, et al. The antiretroviral regimen complexity index: A novel method of quantifying regimen complexity. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. 2007;45(5):535-544. doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e31811ed1f1.
- 42. Vik S a, Hogan DB, Patten SB, Johnson J a, Romonko-Slack L, Maxwell CJ. Medication nonadherence and subsequent risk of hospitalisation and mortality among older adults. *Drugs Aging*. 2006;23(4):345-356. doi:10.2165/00002512-200623040-00007.



www.manaraa.com

- 43. Masoudi FA, Baillie CA, Wang Y, et al. The complexity and cost of drug regimens of older patients hospitalized with heart failure in the United States, 1998-2001. *Arch Intern Med.* 2005;165(18):2069-2076. doi:10.1001/archinte.165.18.2069.
- 44. Kelley SO. Measurement of the Complexity of Medication Regiments of the Elderly (Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-Columbia). *1988*.
- 45. Hirsch JD, Metz KR, Hosokawa PW, Libby AM. Validation of a patient-level medication regimen complexity index as a possible tool to identify patients for medication therapy management intervention. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2014;34(8):826-835. doi:10.1002/phar.1452.
- 46. Linnebur SA, Vande Griend JP, Metz KR, Hosokawa PW, Hirsch JD, Libby AM. Patientlevel medication regimen complexity in older adults with depression. *Clin Ther*. 2014;36(11):1538-1546. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2014.10.004.
- 47. Yam FK, Lew T, Eraly SA, Lin HW, Hirsch JD, Devor M. Changes in medication regimen complexity and the risk for 90-day hospital readmission and/or emergency department visits in U.S. Veterans with heart failure. *Res Soc Adm Pharm.* 2016;12(5):713-721. doi:10.1016/j.sapharm.2015.10.004.
- 48. Kamila P, Smith SG, Patzer R, Wolf MS, Marina S. Medication regimen complexity in kidney and liver transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2014;98(7):e73-e74. doi:10.1097/TP.00000000000403.
- 49. Metz KR, Fish DN, Hosokawa PW, Hirsch JD LA. Patient-level medication regimen complexity in patients with HIV. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2014;48(9):1129–1137.
- 50. Rettig SM, Wood Y, Hirsch JD. Medication regimen complexity in patients with uncontrolled hypertension and/or diabetes. *J Am Pharm Assoc*. 2013;53(4):427-431. doi:10.1331/JAPhA.2013.13003.
- 51. Ghimire S, Peterson GM, Castelino RL, Jose MD, Zaidi STR. Medication Regimen Complexity and Adherence in Haemodialysis Patients: An Exploratory Study. *Am J Nephrol*. 2016;43(5):318-324. doi:10.1159/000446450.
- 52. Petersen RC, Negash S. Mild Cognitive Impairment: An Overview. *CNS Spectr*. 2008;13(1):45-53. doi:10.1017/S1092852900016151.
- 53. Rait G, Fletcher A, Smeeth L, et al. Prevalence of cognitive impairment: Results from the MRC trial of assessment and management of older people in the community. *Age Ageing*. 2005;34(3):242-248. doi:10.1093/ageing/afi039.
- 54. CDC. Cognitive Impairment: A Call for Action, Now! US Dep Heal Hum Serv Centers Dis Control Prev. 2011:1-4.
- 55. Luis C a, Loewenstein D a, Acevedo a, Barker WW, Duara R. Mild cognitive impairment: directions for future research. *Neurology*. 2003;61(4):438-444. doi:Master\_Reference\_List-Converted #76.
- 56. "Cognitive Impairment." Cognitive Impairment an Overview | ScienceDirect Topics, www.sciencedirect.com/topics/neuroscience/cognitive-impairment.



- 57. Alzheimer's Association. Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Assoc*. 2010:1-74. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2012.02.001.
- 58. Kidd PM. Alzheimer's disease, amnestic mild cognitive impairment, and age-associated memory impairment: Current understanding and progress toward integrative prevention. *Altern Med Rev.* 2008;13(2):85-115.
- 59. Gauthier S, Reisberg B, Zaudig M, et al. Mild cognitive impairment. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2006;367(9518):1262-1270. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68542-5.
- 60. Edland SD, Rocca WA, Petersen RC, Cha RH, Kokmen E. Dementia and Alzheimer disease incidence rates do not vary by sex in Rochester, Minn. *Arch Neurol*. 2002;59(10):1589-1593. doi:10.1001/archneur.59.10.1589.
- 61. Petersen RC, Stevens JC, Ganguli M, Tangalos EG, Cummings JL, DeKosky ST. Practice parameter: early detection of dementia: mild cognitive impairment (an evidence-based review). Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2001;56(9):1133-1142. doi:10.1212/WNL.56.9.1133.
- 62. Plassman BL, Langa KM, Fisher GG, et al. Prevalence of cognitive impairment without dementia in the United States. *Ann Intern Med.* 2008;148(6):427-434. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-148-6-200803180-00005.
- 63. Castanho TC, Amorim L, Zihl J, Palha JA, Sousa N, Santos NC. Telephone-based screening tools for mild cognitive impairment and dementia in aging studies: A review of validated instruments. *Front Aging Neurosci*. 2014;6(FEB). doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00016.
- 64. Leidy NK. Functional status and the forward progress of merry-go-rounds: toward a coherent analytical framework. *Nurs Res.* 1994;43(4):196-202. doi:10.1097/00006199-199407000-00002.
- 65. Functional Status, 4 Nov. 2009, qol.thoracic.org/sections/key-concepts/functional-status.html.
- 66. Jahn K RB. Geriatric functional assessment. eMedRef (MU). 2012.
- 67. Inouye SK, Peduzzi PN, Robison JT, Hughes JS, Horwitz RI, Concato J. Importance of functional measures in predicting mortality among older hospitalized patients. *J Am Med Assoc*. 1998;279(15):1187-1198. doi:10.1001/jama.279.15.1187.
- 68. Luppa M, Luck T, Weyerer S, König HH, Brähler E, Riedel-Heller SG. Prediction of institutionalization in the elderly. A systematic review. *Age Ageing*. 2009;39(1):31-38. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp202.
- 69. Nikolova R, Demers L, Béland F, Giroux F. Transitions in the functional status of disabled community-living older adults over a 3-year follow-up period. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*. 2011;52(1):12-17. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2009.11.003.
- 70. Pope AM, Tarlov AR eds. Disability in America: toward a national agenda for prevention Washington. *Natl Acad Press*. 1991.
- 71. Freedman VA, Martin LG, Schoeni RF. Recent trends in disability and functioning among



older adults in the United States: a systematic review. *JAMA*. 2002;288(24):3137-3146. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12495394.

- 72. Crimmins EM, Beltrán-Sánchez H. Mortality and morbidity trends: Is there compression of morbidity? *Journals Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*. 2011;66 B(1):75-86. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbq088.
- 73. Verbrugge LM, Patrick DL. Seven chronic conditions: Their impact on US adults' activity levels and use of medical services. *Am J Public Health*. 1995;85(2):173-182. doi:10.2105/AJPH.85.2.173.
- 74. Ettinger WH, Fried LP, Harris T, et al. Self- Reported Causes of Physical Disability in Older People: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 1994;42(10):1035-1044. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1994.tb06206.x.
- 75. Tinetti ME, Inouye SK, Gill TM, Doucette JT. Shared Risk Factors for Falls, Incontinence, and Functional Dependence: Unifying the Approach to Geriatric Syndromes. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 1995;273(17):1348-1353. doi:10.1001/jama.1995.03520410042024.
- 76. Wolinsky FD, Bentler SE, Hockenberry J, et al. Long-term declines in ADLs, IADLs, and mobility among older Medicare beneficiaries. *BMC Geriatr*. 2011;11. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-11-43.
- 77. Brown RT, Pierluissi E, Guzman D, et al. Functional Disability in Late-Middle-Aged and Older Adults Admitted to a Safety-Net Hospital. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2014;62(11):2056-2063. doi:10.1111/jgs.13103.
- 78. Fulton MM, Allen ER. Polypharmacy in the elderly: a literature review. *J Am Acad Nurse Pract*. 2005;17(4):123-132. doi:10.1111/j.1041-2972.2005.0020.x.
- 79. Jyrkkä J, Enlund H, Korhonen MJ, Sulkava R, Hartikainen S. Polypharmacy status as an indicator of mortality in an elderly population. *Drugs and Aging*. 2009;26(12):1039-1048. doi:10.2165/11319530-00000000-00000.
- 80. BaumC, Kennedy D, ForbesMB JJ. Druguse in the United States in 1981. *JAMA*. 1984:251:1293-7.
- 81. May FE, StewartRB, Hale ME M. Prescribed and non -prescribed drug use in an ambulatory elderly population. 1982:75:522-8.
- 82. Avalere Health L. Analysis of the 2006 Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey, Cost and Use file. Excludes beneficiaries who died during 2006. 2006.
- 83. Hoffman C, Rice D, Sung HY. Persons with chronic conditions: Their prevalence and costs. *J Am Med Assoc.* 1996;276(18):1473-1479. doi:10.1001/jama.276.18.1473.
- 84. Slone Epidemiology Center. *Patterns of Medication Use in the United States 2006.*; 2006. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:PATTERNS+OF+MEDI CATION+USE+IN+THE+UNITED+STATES+2006:+A+REPORT+FROM+THE+SLON E+SURVEY#0.
- 85. Planton J, Edlund BJ. Strategies for Reducing Polypharmacy in Older Adults. J Gerontol



Nurs. 2010;36(1):8-12. doi:10.3928/00989134-20091204-03.

- 86. Boparai MK, Korc-Grodzicki B. Prescribing for older adults. *Mt Sinai J Med.* 2011;78(4):613-626. doi:10.1002/msj.20278.
- 87. Paquin AM, Zimmerman KM, Kostas TR, et al. Complexity perplexity: a systematic review to describe the measurement of medication regimen complexity. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2013;12(6):829-840. doi:10.1517/14740338.2013.823944.
- Advinha AM, De Oliveira-Martins S, Mateus V, Pajote SG, Lopes MJ. Medication regimen complexity in institutionalized elderly people in an aging society. *Int J Clin Pharm*. 2014;36(4):750-756. doi:10.1007/s11096-014-9963-4.
- 89. Elliott RA, O'Callaghan CJ. Impact of hospitalisation on the complexity of older patients' medication regimens and potential for regimen simplification. *J Pharm Pract Res*. 2011;41(1):21-25.
- 90. Kaufman DW, Kelly JP, Rosenberg L, Anderson TE, Mitchell A a. Recent patterns of medication use in the ambulatory adult population of the United States: the Slone survey. *JAMA*. 2002;287(3):337-344. doi:10.1001/jama.287.3.337.
- 91. Fialová D, Topinková E, Gambassi G, et al. Potentially inappropriate medication use among elderly home care patients in Europe. *JAMA*. 2005;293(11):1348-1358. doi:10.1001/jama.293.11.1348.
- 92. Insel K, Morrow D, Brewer B, Figueredo A. Executive function, working memory, and medication adherence among older adults. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*. 2006;61(2):P102-P107. doi:10.1093/geronb/61.2.P102.
- 93. Jimmy B, Jose J. Patient medication adherence: Measures in daily practice. *Oman Med J*. 2011;26(3):155-159. doi:10.5001/omj.2011.38.
- 94. Campbell NL, Boustani M a, Skopelja EN, Gao S, Unverzagt FW, Murray MD. Medication adherence in older adults with cognitive impairment: a systematic evidence-based review. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2012;10(3):165-177. doi:10.1016/j.amjopharm.2012.04.004.
- 95. Okuno J, Yanagi H, Tomura S. Is cognitive impairment a risk factor for poor compliance among Japanese elderly in the community? *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2001;57(8):589-594. doi:10.1007/s002280100347.
- 96. Salas M, In't Veld BA, van der Linden PD, Hofman A, Breteler M, Stricker BH. Impaired cognitive function and compliance with antihypertensive drugs in elderly: the Rotterdam Study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2001;70(6):561-566. doi:10.1067/mcp.2001.119812.
- 97. Stoehr GP, Lu SY, Lavery L, et al. Factors associated with adherence to medication regimens in older primary care patients: The steel valley seniors survey. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2008;6(5):255-263. doi:10.1016/j.amjopharm.2008.11.001.
- 98. Smith D, Lovell J, Weller C, et al. A systematic review of medication nonadherence in persons with dementia or cognitive impairment. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(2). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170651.



- 99. Elliott R a, Goeman D, Beanland C, Koch S. Ability of Older People with Dementia or Cognitive Impairment to Manage Medicine Regimens : A Narrative Review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol*. 2015;10(3):213-221. doi:10.2174/1574884710666150812141525.
- 100. Hawkins LA, Kilian S, Firek A, Kashner TM, Firek CJ, Silvet H. Cognitive impairment and medication adherence in outpatients with heart failure. *Hear Lung J Acute Crit Care*. 2012;41(6):572-582. doi:10.1016/j.hrtlng.2012.06.001.
- Brown PJ, Devanand DP, Liu X, Caccappolo E. Functional impairment in elderly patients with mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer disease. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2011;68(6):617-626. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.57.
- 102. Chan L, Beaver S, MacLehose RF, Jha A, Maciejewski M, Doctor JN. Disability and health care costs in the medicare population. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2002;83(9):1196-1201. doi:10.1053/apmr.2002.34811.
- 103. Farias ST, Mungas D, Reed BR, Harvey D, Cahn-Weiner D, DeCarli C. MCI is associated with deficits in everyday functioning. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 2006;20(4):217-223. doi:10.1097/01.wad.0000213849.51495.d9.
- Isaac LM, Tamblyn RM. Compliance and cognitive function: A methodological approach to measuring unintentional errors in medication compliance in the elderly. *Gerontologist*. 1993;33(6):772-781. doi:10.1093/geront/33.6.772.
- 105. Packer M, Williams M, Samuel D, Adams J. Hand impairment and functional ability: A matched case comparison study between people with rheumatoid arthritis and healthy controls. *Hand Ther*. 2016;21(4):115-122. doi:10.1177/1758998316666481.
- 106. Zhang Y, Baik SH. Race/ethnicity, disability, and medication adherence among medicare beneficiaries with heart failure. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2014;29(4):602-607. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2692-x.
- 107. Park JH, Park JH, Lee SY, Kim SY, Shin Y, Kim SY. Disparities in antihypertensive medication adherence in persons with disabilities and without disabilities: Results of a Korean population-based study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2008;89(8):1460-1467. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.12.045.
- 108. Musich S, Wang SS, Ruiz J, Hawkins K, Wicker E. The impact of mobility limitations on health outcomes among older adults. *Geriatric Nursing*. 2017.
- 109. Thwaites JH. Practical aspects of drug treatment in elderly patients with mobility problems. *Drugs Aging*. 1999;14(2):105-114. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10084364.
- 110. Jankowska-Polańska B, Dudek K, Szymanska-Chabowska A, Uchmanowicz I. The influence of frailty syndrome on medication adherence among elderly patients with hypertension. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2016;11:1781-1790. doi:10.2147/CIA.S113994.
- 111. Leirer V, Sheikh J. Adherence and Medication Instructions Review and Recommendations. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 1988;36(12):1147-1160. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1988.tb04405.x.
- 112. Travis SS, McAuley WJ, Dmochowski J, Bernard MA, Kao HFS, Greene R. Factors associated with medication hassles experienced by family caregivers of older adults. *Patient*



Educ Couns. 2007;66(1):51-57. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2006.10.004.

- 113. Schoonover H, Corbett CF, Weeks DL, Willson MN, Setter SM. Predicting Potential Postdischarge Adverse Drug Events and 30-Day Unplanned Hospital Readmissions From Medication Regimen Complexity. *J Patient Saf.* 2014;10(4):186-191. doi:10.1097/PTS.00000000000067.
- 114. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Bell JSS, et al. Medication Regimen Complexity and Unplanned Hospital Readmissions in Older People. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2014;48(9):1120-1128. doi:10.1177/1060028014537469.
- 115. Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication Regimen Complexity and Polypharmacy as Factors Associated With All-Cause Mortality in Older People: A Population-Based Cohort Study. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2016;50(2):89-95. doi:10.1177/1060028015621071.
- 116. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Visvanathan R, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with hospital discharge destination among older people: A prospective cohort study. *Drugs and Aging*. 2014;31(8):623-630. doi:10.1007/s40266-014-0185-1.
- Hayes KS. Adding medications in the emergency department: effect on knowledge of medications in older adults. *J Emerg Nurs*. 1999;25(3):178-182. doi:10.1016/S0099-1767(99)70201-1.
- 118. Wimmer BC, Cross AJ, Jokanovic N, et al. Clinical Outcomes Associated with Medication Regimen Complexity in Older People: A Systematic Review. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2017;65(4):747-753. doi:10.1111/jgs.14682.
- 119. Pantuzza LL, Ceccato M das GB, Silveira MR, Junqueira LMR, Reis AMM. Association between medication regimen complexity and pharmacotherapy adherence: a systematic review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2017;73(11):1475-1489. doi:10.1007/s00228-017-2315-2.
- 120. Marcum ZA, Gellad WF. Medication Adherence to Multidrug Regimens. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 2012;28(2):287-300. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2012.01.008.
- 121. Chesney M. Adherence to HAART Regimens. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*. 2003;17(4):169-177. doi:10.1089/108729103321619773.
- 122. Donnan PT, MacDonald TM, Morris AD. Adherence to prescribed oral hypoglycaemic medication in a population of patients with Type 2 diabetes: A retrospective cohort study. *Diabet Med.* 2002;19(4):279-284. doi:10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00689.x.
- 123. Portsmouth SD, Osorio J, McCormick K, Gazzard BG, Moyle GJ. Better maintained adherence on switching from twice-daily to once-daily therapy for HIV: A 24-week randomized trial of treatment simplification using stavudine prolonged-release capsules. *HIV Med.* 2005;6(3):185-190. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1293.2005.00287.x.
- 124. Dezii CM, Kawabata H, Tran M. Effects of once-daily and twice-daily dosing on adherence with prescribed glipizide oral therapy for type 2 diabetes. *South Med J*. 2002;95(1):68-71. doi:10.1097/00007611-200295010-00014.



- 125. Paterson DL, Swindells S, Mohr J, et al. Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcomes in patients with HIV infection. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;133(1):21–30. http://annals.ba0.biz/content/133/1/21.1.short.
- 126. Barr RG, Somers SC, Speizer FE, Camargo CAJ. Patient factors and medication guideline adherence among older women with asthma. *Arch Intern Med.* 2002;162(15):1761-1768. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archinte.162.15.1761.
- 127. Wallace E, Salisbury C, Guthrie B, Lewis C, Fahey T, Smith SM. Managing patients with multimorbidity in primary care. *BMJ*. 2015;350. doi:10.1136/bmj.h176.
- 128. Wallace M, Shelkey M. Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (ADL). *Urol Nurs Off J Am Urol Assoc Allied*. 2007;27(1):93-94. doi:10.1097/00004045-200105000-00020.
- 129. Cook SE, Marsiske M, McCoy KJM. The use of the modified telephone interview for cognitive status (Tics-M) in the detection of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*. 2009;22(2):103-109. doi:10.1177/0891988708328214.
- 130. Crimmins EM, Kim JK, Langa KM, Weir DR. Assessment of Cognition Using Surveys and Neuropsychological Assessment: The Health and Retirement Study and the Aging, Demographics, and Memory Study. *Journals Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*. 2011;66B(Supplement 1):i162-i171. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbr048.
- 131. Langa KM, Larson EB, Karlawish JH, et al. Trends in the prevalence and mortality of cognitive impairment in the United States: Is there evidence of a compression of cognitive morbidity? *Alzheimer's Dement*. 2008;4(2):134-144. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2008.01.001.
- Graf C. The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. *Am J Nurs*.
   2008;108(4):52-53. doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000314810.46029.74 [doi] 00000446-200804000-00023 [pii].
- 133. Hildreth, Kerry L. and SC. Evaluation and Management of the Elderly Patient Presenting with Cognitive Complaints. *Med Clin.* 2015;99(2):311-335.
- 134. Weitzner MA, McMillan SC, Jacobsen PB. Family caregiver quality of life: Differences between curative and palliative cancer treatment settings. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 1999;17(6):418-428. doi:10.1016/S0885-3924(99)00014-7.
- Gawronski KAB, Kim ES, Langa KM, Kubzansky LD. Dispositional Optimism and Incidence of Cognitive Impairment in Older Adults. *Psychosom Med.* 2016;78(7):819-828. doi:10.1097/PSY.00000000000345.
- 136. Blaum CS, Ofstedal MB, Liang J. Low cognitive performance, comorbid disease, and taskspecific disability: findings from a nationally representative survey. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2002;57(8):M523-M531. doi:10.1093/gerona/57.8.M523.
- 137. Nobili, A., Garattini, S., & Mannucci P. Multiple diseases and polypharmacy in the elderly: challenges for the internist of the third millennium. Journal of Comorbidity. *J Comorbidity*. 2011;1(28).
- 138. Marshall GA, Rentz DM, Frey MT, Locascio JJ, Johnson KA, Sperling RA. Executive



function and instrumental activities of daily living in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement*. 2011;7(3):300-308. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2010.04.005.

- Gure TR, Langa KM, Fisher GG, Piette JD, Plassman BL. Functional limitations in older adults who have cognitive impairment without dementia. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*. 2013;26(2):78-85. doi:10.1177/0891988713481264.
- 140. Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review. *Alzheimers Res Ther*. 2015;7(1):17. doi:10.1186/s13195-015-0099-0.
- 141. Njegovan V, Hing MM, Mitchell SL, Molnar FJ. The hierarchy of functional loss associated with cognitive decline in older persons. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2001;56(10):M638-M643. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.10.M638.
- 142. Amieva H, Le Goff M, Millet X, et al. Prodromal Alzheimer's disease: Successive emergence of the clinical symptoms. *Ann Neurol*. 2008;64(5):492-498. doi:10.1002/ana.21509.
- 143. PérÃ<sup>°</sup>s K, Helmer C, Amieva H, et al. Natural History of Decline in Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Performance over the 10 Years Preceding the Clinical Diagnosis of Dementia: A Prospective Population-Based Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2008;56(1):37-44. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01499.x.
- 144. Nygård L. Instrumental activities of daily living: a stepping-stone towards Alzheimer's disease diagnosis in subjects with mild cognitive impairment? *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2003;179:42-46. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0404.107.s179.8.x.
- 145. Studenski S. Utility of brief cognitive and physical assessments in clinical care. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2017;72(1):59-60. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw182.
- 146. Grenard JL, Munjas BA, Adams JL, et al. Depression and medication adherence in the treatment of chronic diseases in the United States: A meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(10):1175-1182. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1704-y.
- 147. Tang H-YJ, Sayers SL, Weissinger G, Riegel B. The Role of Depression in Medication Adherence Among Heart Failure Patients. *Clin Nurs Res.* 2013;In Press:1-14. doi:10.1177/1054773813481801.
- 148. DiMatteo MR, Lepper HS, Croghan TW. Depression Is a Risk Factor for Noncompliance With Medical Treatment: Meta-analysis of the Effects of Anxiety and Depression on Patient Adherence. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160(14):2101-2107. http://archinte.amaassn.org/cgi/content/abstract/160/14/2101.
- 149. Glisky EL. Changes in cognitive function in human aging. In: *Brain Aging: Models, Methods, and Mechanisms.*; 2007:3-20. doi:10.1201/9781420005523.sec1.
- 150. Deary IJ, Corley J, Gow AJ, et al. Age-associated cognitive decline. *Br Med Bull*. 2009;92(1):135-152. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldp033.
- 151. Teri L, McCurry SM, Edland SD, Kukull WA, Larson EB. Cognitive decline in Alzheimer's



disease: a longitudinal investigation of risk factors for accelerated decline. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 1995;50A(1):M49-55. doi:10.1093/gerona/50A.1.M49.

152. Hospitalizations And Cognitive Decline in Older Adults http://www.sciencenewsline.com/news/2017071717580058.html.; 2017. http://www.sciencenewsline.com/news/2017071717580058.html.



### Appendix A

The Medication Regimen Complexity Index, Section A (George et al., 2004, p. 1374)

Appendix II. Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI)

#### MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY INDEX

Patient ID: ----

Total no. of medications (including prn/sos medications): ------Instructions

- MRCI applies only to prescribed medications. All entries are to be made only based on information on the label or drug chart (at the time of dispensing or discharge). No assumptions are to be made based on clinical judgement.
- There are three sections in the scale. Complete each section before proceeding to the next. At the end, add the scores for the three sections to give the MRCI.
- 3. If the same medication (same brand and same dosage form) is present more than once in different strengths in a regimen (e.g. Marevan 5mg, 3mg and 1 mg mdu), it is still considered as one medication.
- 4. In cases where the dosage is optional, choose the dosing instruction with the smallest dose/frequency. (e.g. Ventolin MDI 1-2 puffs, 2-3 times daily will get weightings for 'metered dose inhalers', 'variable dose' and 'twice daily'; but not for 'multiple units at one time')
- In certain cases the dosing frequency needs to be calculated (e.g. Ranitidine 1mane and 1nocte is 1twice daily)
- It is possible that with certain 'use as directed' instructions, the regimen will not get a score under dosing frequency (e.g. Prednisolone 5mg mdu)
- If there is more than one dosing frequency direction, they should be scored for all the dosing frequency directions (e.g. Ventolin MDI 2 puffs bd and prn, will get scores for 'metered dose inhalers', 'multiple units at one time', 'twice daily' as well as 'prn')
- Instances where two or more medications are mutually exclusive, they need to be scored twice or more as prn with the recommended dosing frequency (e.g. Ventolin MDI or Ventolin nebuliser twice daily will get scores for both 'metered dose inhalers' and 'nebuliser' under dosage forms, but needs to be scored two times for 'twice daily prn')
- In cases where there is no matching option, choose the closest option (e.g. six times daily could be considered as 'q4h')

DPI = dry-powder inhaler; MDI = metered-dose inhaler.

A) Circle the weighting corresponding to each dosage form (ONCE ONLY) present in the regimen.

	Dosage Forms	Weighting
	Capsules/Tablets	1
ORAL	Gargles/Mouthwashes	2
	Gums/Lozenges	2
	Liquids	2
	Powders/Granules	2
	Sublingual sprays/tabs	2
	Creams/Gels/Ointments	2
	Dressings	3
TORICAL	Paints/Solutions	2
IUPICAL	Pastes	3
	Patches	2
	Sprays	1
	Ear drops/creams/ointments	3
FAD EVE 8	Eye drops	3
EAR, LIL &	Eye gels/ointments	3
DATE:	Nasal drops/cream/ointment	3
	Nasal spray	2
	Accuhalers	3
	Aerolizers	3
	Metered dose inhalers	4
INHALATION	Nebuliser	5
	Oxygen/Concentrator	3
	Turbuhalers	3
	Other DPIs	3
	Dialysate	5
	Enemas	2
	Injections: Prefilled	3
OTHEDS	Ampoules/Vials	4
UTHERS	Pessaries	3
	Patient controlled analgesia	2
	Suppositories	2
	Vaginal creams	2
	Total for Section A	



#### Appendix II. Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) (continued)

B) For each medication in the regimen tick a box  $\lceil \sqrt{\rceil}$  corresponding to the dosing frequency. Then, add the no. of  $\lceil \sqrt{\rceil}$  in each category and multiply by the assigned weighting. In cases where there is no exact option, choose the best option.

Dosing Frequency	uency Medications			Weighting	Weighting × No. of
Once daily				1	
Once daily prn				0.5	
Twice daily				2	
Twice daily prn				1	
Three times daily				3	
Three times daily pm				1.5	
Four times daily				4	
Four times daily pm				2	
q 12h				2.5	
q 12h prn				1.5	
q 8h				3.5	
q 8h prn				2	
q 6h				4.5	
q 6h prn				2.5	
q 4h				6.5	
q 4h prn				3.5	
q 2h				12.5	
q 2h prn				6.5	
prn/sos				0.5	
On alternate days or less frequently				2	
Oxygen pm				1	
Oxygen <15hrs				2	
Oxygen >15hrs				3	
	T	otal for	Sec	tion B	

DPI = dry-powder inhaler; MDI = metered-dose inhaler.

C) Tick a box  $\lceil \sqrt{\rceil}$  corresponding to the additional directions, if present in the regimen. Then, add the no. of  $\lceil \sqrt{\rceil}$  in each category and multiply by the assigned weighting.

Additional Directions	Medications	Total	Weighting	Weighting × No. of medications
Break or crush tablet			1	
Dissolve tablet/powder			1	
Multiple units at one time (e.g. 2 tabs, 2 puffs)			1	
Variable dose (e.g. 1-2 caps, 2-3 puffs)			1	
Take/use at specified time/s (e.g. mane, nocte, 8 AM)			1	
Relation to food (e.g. pc, ac, with food)			1	
Take with specific fluid			1	
Take/use as directed			2	
Tapering/increasing dose			2	
Alternating dose (e.g. one mane & two nocte, one/ two on alternate days)			2	
Total for Section C				

Medication Regimen Complexity = Total (A) + Total (B) + Total (C)=


## Appendix B

Variables	N, weighted frequency (%)	
Total population n= 9694		
Age		
65–74 years	4834 (57.06)	
75–84 years	3724 (31.47)	
85 years or older	1136 (11.46)	
Gender		
Male	4026 (43.02)	
Female	5668 (56.97)	
Marital status		
married	5799 (58.81)	
non-married	3893 (41.18)	
Race		
White	7977 (87.47)	
Black	1324 (8.58)	
Other	389 (3.94)	
Years of education		
No degree	2189 (19.63)	
High school	4060 (41.52)	
Some college	1353 (14.40)	
College degree	2085 (24.43)	
Income		
\$ 0 to 15999	1810 (17.26)	
\$16000 to 28999	2051 (19.46)	
\$ 29000 to 50999	2628 (26.31)	
\$ 51000 to 134999	2584 (28.98)	
\$ over 135000	621 (7.96)	
Number of people living at house		
1	2747 (31.18)	
2-3	6219 (62.11)	
4 or more	728 (6.69)	
Covered by insurance		
No	0 (0)	
Yes	9512 (100)	

## Table 4.1 Summarizes the Demographic Characteristics of the Study Sample at 2012



No       6697 (70.02)         Yes       2943 (29.97)         Health       excellent/very good/good         excellent/very good/good       6917 (73.13)         fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       None         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       None         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Yes       2943 (29.97)         Health       excellent/very good/good       6917 (73.13)         fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       None         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       None         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Health       6917 (73.13)         fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       733 (7.07)         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Health         excellent/very good/good       6917 (73.13)         fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       733 (7.07)         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       1728 (16.84)         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Cognitive intact       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)
excellent/very good/good       6917 (73.13)         fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       7958 (83.15)         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
fair       2031 (19.78)         Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       7958 (83.15)         None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Poor       733 (7.07)         ADL       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       1728 (16.84)         None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
ADL None Impaired7958 (83.15) 1728 (16.84)IADL None Impaired8129 (84.97) 1557 (15.02)Difficulty taking medication No Yes9271 (97.19) 291 (2.67)Cognitive status Cognitive intact Impaired9301 (96.55) 393 (3.44)Cognitive and ADL No9538 (98.67)
ADL       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
None       7958 (83.15)         Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Impaired       1728 (16.84)         IADL       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
IADL None8129 (84.97) 1557 (15.02)Difficulty taking medication No Yes9271 (97.19) 291 (2.67)Cognitive status Cognitive intact Impaired9301 (96.55) 393 (3.44)Cognitive and ADL No9538 (98.67)
IADL       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
None       8129 (84.97)         Impaired       1557 (15.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Impared       1337 (13.02)         Difficulty taking medication       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Difficulty taking medicationNo9271 (97.19)Yes291 (2.67)Cognitive statusCognitive intact9301 (96.55)Impaired393 (3.44)Cognitive and ADL9538 (98.67)
No       9271 (97.19)         Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Impaired       393 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Yes       291 (2.67)         Cognitive status       9301 (96.55)         Cognitive intact       9303 (3.44)         Cognitive and ADL       9538 (98.67)
Cognitive status Cognitive intact9301 (96.55) 393 (3.44)Cognitive and ADL No9538 (98.67)
Cognitive status Cognitive intact9301 (96.55) 393 (3.44)Cognitive and ADL No9538 (98.67)
Cognitive intact         9301 (96.55)           Impaired         393 (3.44)           Cognitive and ADL         9538 (98.67)
Impaired         393 (3.44)           Cognitive and ADL         9538 (98.67)
Cognitive and ADL No 9538 (98.67)
Cognitive and ADL         9538 (98.67)
No 9538 (98.67)
Yes 156 (1.32)
Cognitive and IADL
No 9500 (98.25)
Yes 194 (1.74)
Number of conditions
none 557 (6.56)
1-2 4294 (45.59)
3-4 3893 (38.60)
5 or more 945 (9.23)
Hypertension
No 2/98 (31.65)
res 6/44 (68.34)
Heave digaaga
No 6500 (69 20)
$V_{es} = 0.007 (00.59) = 0.0$
105 S106 (S1.00)



Lung disease	
No	8465 (87.70)
Yes	1215 (12.29)
Arthritis	
No	2863 (31.05)
Yes	6817 (68.94)
Stroke	
No	8598 (89.53)
Yes	1084 (10.46)
Depression	
No	8418 (87.52)
Yes	1276 (12.47)
Cancer	
No	7637 (79.36)
Yes	2023 (20.63)
Psyche	
No	8061 (82.46)
Yes	1618 (17.53)
Diabetes	
No	7345 (83.38)
Yes	1641 (16.61)



## Vita

Duaa Bafail was born on December 22, 1985 in Arizona, USA. She graduated with Pharm.D. degree in pharmacy from King Abdullaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia in 2009. She worked as instructor in the department of pharmacology in school of medicine at King Abdullaziz University. She came to Virginia Commonwealth University in 2012 to do her Master of Science degree in Pharmacology and Toxicology. In 2014 she enrolled in the PhD program in Pharmaceutical Science with a concentration in pharmacotherapy and outcomes science. She also completed the Preparing Future Faculty program at Virginia Commonwealth University and received a Certificate for Teaching Excellence at the conclusion of the program.



www.manaraa.com